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Strategic Report

The directors, in preparing this strategic report, have complied with $414C of the Companies Act 2066,

We have delivered another good trading performance over the year lo 31 March 2021. Despite the impact of COVID-19, we have
achieved 11% gross profit growth in our core Cloud Communications segment (2% gross profit growth including the Operator VAS &
Payments business} and flal adjusted EBITDA of £21.6m.

Kevenue in the year declined, solely driven by a change in the business model with one customer, which has had a significant positive
impact on gross profit margin with little impact on gross profit.

Following the announcement of the proposed acquisition by Cisco on 19 February 2021, there has been a significant amount of work to
integrate the business into Cisco through sales collaboration, product integrations and the onboarding of our employees. This work is
still in progress and we look forward to an acceleration of the integration over the coming months.

Following completion of the acquisition IMImobile PI.C delisted from AIM and was renamed IMImobile Limited.

During the year, we also conducted a strategic review of the Operator VAS & Payments business and it was concluded that the best
option for the long-term success of the Group would be a sale of the VAS business to the exisling management team. This
management buy out completed post year-end in August 2021 and, following a period of transition steps, the businesses are almost
entirely operating independently from one another with the exception of some minor transitional services.

COVID-19

‘The COVID-19 pandemic significantly impacted our healthcare & SMB businesses as hospitals were forced 1o cancel routine
appointments and smaller businesses closed or scaled back operations. However, both areas of the business have now
fully recovered and valumes are now back to pre-pandemic levels.

In general, COVID-19 has driven an acceleration in the digital communication strategies of large enierprises and, although it has
undoubtedly crealed challenges, it has alse demonstrated the mission-critical nature of the interactions we deliver for our customers.
We have helped businesses rapidly transition their contact centres to remote working with our contact centre application, imiengage.
We have also delivered emergency communications for our clients across all sectors, including working with the major mobile operators
in the UK to send ‘Stay at home’ communications on behalf of the government.

Our team have been exceptional throughout this challenging period and adapted to working remotely with ease. Following some
employee salary reductions at the start of the pandemic, al! salarics, excluding those of the Board, were returned to normal levels from
1 July 2020, with the Board salaries returned to normal levels from 1 October 2020. Foliowing signs of recovery in the arcas impacted
by the pandemic, the Board decided to repay the deductions made carlicr in the year.

Trading performance to 31 March 2021

Cloud Communication Products - 89% of Group gross profit

Europe — gross profit down 2% to £37.1m (2020: £37.8m)

The Europe region has had a mixed performance in the Jast year and makes up about 52% of our overalt business.

We have seen good progress within our operator vertical - expanding the services and departments we work with as well as the
channels we offer within Vodafone and IE. We also renewed our long-standing contract with O2 who have been a customer for many
years, as well as starting to work with Three UK for the first time. We have also made strategic progress in the Spanish market, working
across different networks to provide them with RCS Business Messaging capabilitics and we hope to see further expansion into other
European operators in future periods.

‘There has been steady progress within the enferprise/ public sector market. We have extended our banking coverage across multiple
banking clients, expanding our already significant market share across the UK retail banking sector. During the year, there were also
renewals of key customer accounts within the region, including major clients in the utility, banking and media sectors, as well as the
acquisition of new flagship logos such as the UK’s largest police service.

As previously mentioned, the COVID-19 pandemic significantly impacted our SMB (Textlocal) and healthcare business units in the
UK. Textlocal has now made a full recovery, even reporting some record volumes in recent months and has won several new ﬂagship
logos including a significant win with one of the leading survey companies in the world. Gur healthcare unit was also significantly
impacted during the peak of the pandemic due to the lack of inpatients and non-urgent operations in hospitals causing volumes to
drop by up to 40%. However, the team continued to develop our relationships with customers during this period and activity levels
and revenues have now returned or even exceeded pre-pandemic levels. We have also won and deployed cur suite of products at a
flagship NHS trust, which is a significant new client win during the vear.

Amwtericas - gross profit up 43% to £26.2m (2020: £18.4m)

It has been an excellent year of progress within the Americas region, with gross profit up by 43%. This has been the first full year of
contribution from 3Cinteractive following acquisition in August 2019, and we consolidated our North America business in the year
with common sales, marketing and financial systems.

We have won 43 new loges during the year as well as managing to upsell the core cloud communication product set to existing
clients including across Operators, Retait and Travel sectors.

There have also been major deployments for our largest retail client during the year as we launched 23 services across their operating,
units - deploying first on AWS and then on Microsoft Azure. Tt's a huge testament to our teams and strength of our technology that we
have been able to work remotely to deploy such high-availability, business critical services.



During the year, we have also established our CPaaS wholesale business in the region and deployed the first RCS campaigns for a
major Canadian carrier.

Middie East & Africa (MEA) - gross profit up 14% fo £5.0m (2020 £4.4m)

There has been a mixed performance in the MFA region. Despite a tough trading environment in South Africa, we managed to expand
our relationship with multiple significant clients in the region.

We have also secured a new CI'aaS contract with a UAT based Operator who are a strategically important telco provider in the region.
Asia-Pacific (APAC) - gross profit dowon 20% te £3.20 (2020: £4.0m)

The decline in this region is mostly due to the decision to discontinue non-core activities for certain enterprise clients following strategic
reviews of activities in the region. However, we have seen an acceleration in the number of customers wanting to use WhatsApp
Business via the imiconnect platform and the region has been a centre of innovation for these new communication channels.

We have also managed to upsell to existing clients particularly in motor vehicle and banking sectors.
Operator VAS & mobile paysnents - 11% of Group gross profit
The Group’s operator VAS and mobile payments business experienced a gross profit decline of 40%.

In APAC and MEA, operator VAS gross profit declined from £11.0m to £7.1m. As announced at the time of the Cisco offer, the Board
conducted a strategic review of the VAS segment and a sale to the existing management was completed in August 2021.

The mobile payments business in the UK continued to experience declines due to regulations and changes in consumer habits, with
gross prefit in the region falling by over 60% from £2.2m to £1.2m and management have decided to wind down this part of the business.

Summary and Outlook

Today, the business manages billions of mission-critical interactions and orchestrates some great customer experiences for an
incredible blue-chip client list. We currently work with many of the world's leading mobile operators, the top UK high street banks,
some of the largest retailers in North America, as well as prominent public sector organisations globally. The sale te Cisco for $730m
reflects both what has been achieved in creating market leading technology and the substantial opportunity going forward.

For many years, we have wanted to be “at the heart of custemer interactions” for our clients and we are excited by the combination
with Cisco that will allow us to accelerate our vision to create a world of dynamic, always-on connections between businesses and their
customers. We understand that customer interactions den't take place in a single silo within an organisation on a single commurication
channel - they occur across many touchpoints, including contact center, customer experience, marketing or service teams. Together
with Cisco WebEx Contact Center capabilities, we will enable businesses to provide a seamless connected end-to-end journey that is
the future of customer experience.

The entire senior management team at imimobile is committed to this next step in our story as it will allow us to greatly expand our
reach, accelerate our pace of innovation and access the support of one of the world's most consistently successful technology businesses.

Principal risks and uncertainties of the Group

The Board has overalt responsibility for managing risk. Risks are formally identified and recorded in a risk register, which is reviewed
by the Board at each full board meeting. Risks are evaluated based on likelihood and potential impact, including any change from the
prior year, and the register records current mitigating controls to reduce risk, together with any required actions to further reduce risk
to appropriate levels. Following the acquisition of the Group by Cisco, the Board has removed its acquisition strategy as a risk area bug
considers dependence on key personnel risk area to have increased in recognition of the importance of the leadership and senior
management teams towards the Group’s successful integration into Cisco.

Risk area Potential impact Change in | Mitigation of risks
I the year
Exchange rate | A significant proportion of the Group's revenue is ‘The Group naturally mitigates this risk
fuctuations generated overseas and is denominated in Indian by offsetting its cost base in the same
Rupees, US Dollars, Canadian Dollars and South currencies where possible and by
African Rand and cash deposits are held in multiple closely monitoring exchange rate
foreign currencies, most significantly the Indian fluctuations. Prior to acquisition by
Rupee, Canadian Dollar and US Dollar. Therefore, the Cisco the Group repatriated cash into
Group is exposed to foreign currency risk due to <) UK Pounds Sterling whenever possible
fluctuations in exchange rates. This may result in and made use of forward exchange
gains or losses with respect to movements in contracts where considered
exchange rates which may be material and may also commercially appropriate.  Cisca’s
cause fluctuations in reported financial information treasury function will now help the
that are not necessarily related to the Group's Group to mitigate its risk relative to
operating results. their wider foreign exchange planning,
Dependence on key | The Group’s future success is substantially dependent Following the acquisition by Cisce long
personnel on the continued services and performance of its term retenton incentives have been
leadership and senior management each of whom has provided to the leadership team and
significant relevant experience. T key executives of the Group. Cisco also
ensure that the remuneration of all
employees is regularly benchmarked
against key competitors.
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Customer
relationships

A proportion of the Group’s business is derived from |
supplying ongoing services to customers based on
formal contracts. Despite historically low levels of
customer attrition and the longevity of many of the
Group's relationships with its core customers, it is
possible that customer attrition rates may increase in
the future due to increased competition, the take-over
or merger of major customers or changes in market
demand. It is also possible that during the rencwal of
contracts with [arge bluc-chip customers that the fees
payable can be reduced, or that the volume of
interactions between our clients and their customers
may reduce over time.

The Group sceks to minimise the risk of

events of this nature occurring by
diversifying its customer base, and
maintaining strong relationships with
its customers, as well as signing long-
term confracts with customers. The
Group also actively attempts to cross-
sell and upsell additional platforms
and solutions to existing customers.

Technological
chunge

The Group operates in markets that are subject to
constant  technological  development,  evolving
industry standards and changes in customer needs,
Therefore, the Group is subject to the effects of actions
by competitors in these markets and relies on its
ability to  anticipate and adapt 1o constant
techrological changes taking place in the industry, for
example the growing number of communication
channcls used by consumers. To maintain its strong
position in the market, the Group needs to
successfully market its products and services and
respond to both commercial actions by competitors
and other competitive factors affecting these markets,
anticipating and adapting promptly to technological
changes, changes in consumer preferences and
general economic, political and social conditions.

The Group continues (o spend
significantly ~ in  research  and
development as well as employing
product and selution specialists who
menitor market developments and
keep the product offering relevant for
the markets in which the Group
operates.

Data privacy and
regulafory
compliance

Certain activities of the Group and its customers may
require the implementation of appropriate privacy
and security policies or explicit end user opt-in and
compliance with certain legislation including general
data protection regulations {GITR) which affect how
personal data is processed and stored or the United
States Telephone Consumer Protection Act (TCPA)
which regulates the optin of consumers to receive
digital communicatiens. They may also affect the
types of communijcation which are allowed based on
permissions given by ensd users. Faiture 1o comply
with the laws governing the management of end user
and customer data could result in fines, damage to
reputation or the loss of customers.

The Group has invested heavily in its
products, platforms and processes in
order to  ensure market leading
technology and practice are built-in to
the solutions provided to its customers.

Cyber security

Security of customer, employee and commercial data
represents an increasing reputational and financial
risk. Many of the Group’s customers are high profile
and recognisable brands, and a failure to maintain
best in class security protocols and systems could
result in significant damage to the Group.

The increasing trends around cyber crime suggest
that this risk will continue to increase over time.

The Group invests in best-in class
software and platforms for proactively
managing cyber security. Group staff
undergo regular training and are kept
aware of evolving risks.

‘The Group maintains various security
certifications including 15O 27001.

The Group also benefits from working
withsome of the best Global businesses
with  extremely  high  security
standards, requiring repular and
detailed audits of their suppliers.

Following acquisition by Cisco the
Group also expects to benefit from a
broader and deeper pool of expertise in
this area which is expected to result in
improved policies and practices.
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Significant failure
of, or interruption
to nefwork or 17
systenis

The Group's business depends on  providing
customers with highly reliable platforms and services.
Unanticipated network, or other, interruptions
{whether accidental or otherwise) may occur as a
result of system failures, including hardware or
software failures, which affect the quality, or cause an
interruption in the Group’s supply of scrvices, Such
failures can result from a varicty of facters within the
Group’s contro), including human errox, equipment
failure, power loss, failure of services related to the
internet and telecommunication networks, as well as
factors outside of the Group’s control, such as system
failures of network scrvice  providers,  fire,
carthquake, adverse weather and other natural
disasters, water damage, fibre optic cable cuts, power
Ioss not caused by the Group and terrorism.

The Group’s infrastruciure is hosted
mainly using third party data centres,
with major platforms and systems also
benefiting from geographical
redundancy. Third party hardware and
software support contracts are in place,
Connectivity to multiple networks also
provides mitigation against clements
of this risk.

COVID-19 or other
global pandeniic

The COVID-19 pandemic has had wide-ranging
impacts on the Global economy and further surges
from new variants or other global pandemic could
impact the Group’s employees, sharcholders,
suppliers and customers as a result of restrictions in
movement, including:

The Group maintains and tests
detailed, regional business continuity
plans covering remote working and
back-up measures to ensure that
support and services provided to
customers can be maintained remotely

from the various regions in which the

. Reduction  in  interaction  and  therefore Group operates

revenues from certain customer verticals or in
certain geographies The Group has a well diversified
) > customer base spread across several
s  Reduction in ability to identify and win new international markets.
sales opportunities
The major debters of the Group are
made up of large corporates and
therefore less likely to default on credit

obligations.

. Increase in likelihood of bad debt from
customers in financial distress

s Increase in volume of financially motivated
cyber attacks The Group’s well  established

information security controls are

continually reviewed and enhanced.

Corporate Social Responsibility and Section 172 statement

At imimobile, we are committed to operating in an ethical and responsible manner. We focus our efforts on our workplace, our
community and the environment. As part of the UN Global Compact initiative, we have committed to adopting sustainable, socially
responsible policics and adhere to their universal principles on human rights, labour practices, the environment and anti-corruption.

Our Workplace

We recognise that our employees are our greatest asset and critical to business success. We continue to invest in developing our
employees and encourage teams to develop their skills and keep up to date with new technologics, market developments and business
processes.

We use our internal communications platform, Workplace, to encourage employees to share knowledge across the business, recognise
colleagues for outstanding work, announcing new customer wins and asking questions if they need help. We also regularly host
Townhalls with Live Q&A sessions which all staff globally are invited to attend and ask questions directly about business updates. We
also have an online fecdback tool where all employees can anonymously submit any feedback and provide thoughts or suggestions on
any aspect of the business and have regular employee pulse surveys to keep in touch with how our colleagues are fecling.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, we encouraged our employees to adopt a healthy lifestyle and the physical and mental weltbeing of
our teams is one of our highest priorities. We hosted a number of wellbeing programmes to support our teams working remotely
including stress management training, virtual social evenls such as escape rooms and quizzes, as well as supporting parents whilst
schools were closed through virtual activities for children.

Our Community

One of our core values is to make cvery interaction with society matter and we actively encourage employees to try and make a
difference and contribute to positive change. We encourage our teams to follow these three principles to help us to live this value:

*  lDstrive to do the right thing and consider my environmental impact
+  [work on personal projects that make a difference
¢+ Ido whatlcan to increase inclusion and diversity

This year, we established the imimaobile green team which has representatives from all of the regions in which we operate. The green
team has run a number of educational initiatives in the last year to try and create awareness around ways that employces can actively
reduce their carbon footprint. Following the Black Lives Matter movement, imimebile also signed an open letter that demanded action

on Black inclusion for businesses which you can read on our website.
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Our Custorers and Suppliers

We are dedicated to providing and maintaining the highest standards in all aspects of the organisation’s relationships with clients, staff
and supplicrs.

These standards not only apply to all professional advice supplied by our business, bui also to the organisation’s ethics, behaviour and
relationships. We seek on-geing and continuous improvement of quality and are committed to:

.
-
-

Clear identification and definition of clicnt requirements as a first step to ensure customer satisfaction;
Staff commitment to a quality and continzous improvement approach;

Llelping staff develop their competencies towards business objectives;

Ensuring that our supply chain operates in an ethical and responsible manner;

Using a continnous improvement approach jn all aspects throughout the business; and

Regulatly reviewing systems, covering effectivencss and any non-conformance issues

Our Environment

The environmental impact of the business is relatively low as we have no manufacturing facilities and many of our cloud-based
solutions reduce envirorunental impact for onr clients through digital communications such as digital hospital appointment letters and
delivery of paperless bank statements.

At present, we have implemented the following sustainability initiatives:

Reducing travel emissions through cycle to work schemes, discounted rail fares, pollution checking for employee vehicles
etc.;

Use of video conferencing software, Microsoft Teams and Cisco Webex, to limit the number of in-person meetings;
Supporting flexible working where possible;

Reducing paper and ink wastage through automatic double-sided printing; and

Upholding good office practices such as recycling and limited use of single use or plastic materials.

As mentioned, we have now established a green team and look forward to working with the Cisco sustainability teams to make further
improvements in the next year.

The Strategic Report was approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

Mike Jefferies

Driréctor

23 December 2021



Directors” Report

‘The Directors present their annual report and audited consolidated financial statements on the affairs of IMImobile Limited for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

Following completion of the acquisition IMImobile PLC delisted from ATM and was renamed IMImobile Limited on 17 March 2021,
Results and dividends

The results for the year are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 15. Since listing in 2014 until the Group's acquisition
by Cisco there was no dividend policy. A dividend was paid to IMImobile Limited by one of its subsidiaries in March 2021 and resulted
in a dividend expense of £175,000 to non-controlling interests (2020: £nil). Distribution of the Group's reserves will now be determined
by Cisco’s policies.

Directors

The directors of the company who were in office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements werce:
Executive Directors

Mr Jayesh (Jay) Patel

Mr Michael (Mike) Jefferies
Mr Shyamprasad (Shyam} Bhat (resigned 24 March 2021)

Non-executive Directors

Mz John Allwood (resigned 19 February 2021}

Mr Viswanatha (Vish) Alluri (resigned 19 February 2021}
Mr Simon Blagden (resigned 19 February 2021)

Strategic Report

‘The Strategic Report covers pages 4 to 8. The Company has chosen to set out likely future developments in the Strategic Report that
would otherwise be required to be disclosed in the Directors’” Report.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

Disclosures relating to financial risk management objectives and policies, including our policy for hedging are set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements and disclosures relating to expesure to price risk and eredit risk are outlined in note 27.

Streamlined energy and carbon reporting

As outlined in the Corporate Social Responsibility statement, the group is committed to reducing its environmental impact. The
Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR} regulations require us to report on our cnergy use. The only compary under the
mandgdatory scope of SECR within the Group is IMImobile Europe Limited so the following disclosure relates only to that subsidiary.

Scope and methodology

As IMImobile Europe Limited does not pay directly for its purchased fuel consumption within its offices we have estimated
consumption by applying known energy use from meter readings in another UK office in the Group to the offices of IMImobile Europe
Limited based on their square footage, The carbon impact of this energy use has been calculated by taking the average mix of fuels used
in electricity and gas generation in the UK and the carbon intensity ratio of cach to give the average kilogrammes of carbon dioxide (Kg
C;) praduced for every kilowatt hour (KWh) of electricity and gas used.

Carban from transport has been calculated based on the mileage in employee expense claims multiplied by the SECR provided intensity
ratio for an average car.

We consider data centres to fall under scope 3 of the SECR guidelines as the company does not have control over the energy used and
is not billed dircctly for the energy and therefore these are not included within this disclosure.

The company’s energy use was as follows:

kWh Kg COe
_Purchased electricity generated from office space e ScOpe2 o 6BB5®  loedr
.Juel used by employees in personal cars onbusinessnse | Scepel 616t 6910
75,023 17,552

[ntensity measurement

The emissions intensity measure {scope 1+2/ FI'E) of IMImobile Furope Limited is 146 Kg COze per employee (2020: 551 Kg COze per
employee).

Supplier payment policy

The Company has no trade creditors because it is a parent company and does not generate trading revenues, Accordingly, no disclosure
can be made of year-end trade creditor days. However, the Group’s policy is to settle the terms of payment with suppliers when
agreeing the texms of each transaction and to ensure that suppliers are made aware of the terms of payment and to abide by the terms
of payment. The average trade creditors for the Group, expressed as a number of days, were 122 (2020 117).

Related party transactions

Disclosures relating to related party transactions are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.



Charitable and political donations

Charitable donations made by the Group in the year were £12,000 (2020: £88,000). Political donations were £nil in both years.
Employees

The number of employees and their remuneration is set out in note 6.

The Group is committed to offering eqial employment epportunities and its policies are designed to attract, retain and motivate the
best staff regardless of gender, race, colour, religion, ethnic or national origin, age, marital status, disability, sexual orientation or any
other conditions not relevant to the performance of the job, who can demonstrate that they have the necessary skills and abil ities.

The Group places considerable value on the involvement of its employees and has continued {o keep them informed on matters
affecting them as employees and on the various factors affecting the performance of the Group. This is achieved threugh formal and
informal meetings. Employee representatives are consulted regularly on a wide range of matters affecting their current and future
interests.

The Group complies with all applicable labour laws in the respective jurisdictions in which it operates.
Going concern

In determining whether the financial statements can be prepared on the going concern basis, the Directors considered the Company’s
and Group’s business activitics together with factors likely to affect its future development, performance and its financial position
including cash flows, liquidity position and the principal risks and uncertaintics relating to its business activities including COVID-19,
as given in the Strategic Report.

Based on cash flow forecasts which take into account the Directors’ best estimate of current sales orders and opportunities, expenditure
forecasts as well as the Group’s current cash balance and support from Cisco tollowing acquisition, the 1Jirectors consider it appropriate
to prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis. For further details please refer to note 1.

Independent Auditors
Tn the case of each of the persons who are Directors of the Company at the date when this report is approved:

e as far as each of the Directors is aware, there is no relevant audit information (as defined in the Companies Act 2006) of which the
Company’s auditors are unaware; and

+ cachof the Directers has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a Director to make himself aware of any audit information
{(as defined) and to establish that the Company”s auditors are aware of that information.

This confirmation should be given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the Companies Act
2006.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office as auditors and a resolution to reappoint them will
be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting,.
Directors” indemnities

The Company has made qualifying third-party indemnity provisions for the benefit of its directors which were made during the year
and remain in force at the date of this report.

Directors’ responsibilities statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
regulation.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for cach financial year. Under that law the directors have prepared
the Greup financial statements in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006 and the company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Fractice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law).

Under company law, directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of the profit or loss of the group for that period. In preparing the financial statements,
the directors are required to:

+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

* state whether applicable international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 have
been followed for the group financial statements and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 have been
followed for the company financial statements, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial
statements;

* make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

¢ prepare the financial statements on the geing concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the group and company will
centinue in business.

The directors are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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The directors are also responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group’s and
Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the group and company and enable

them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.

Approved by the Board of Direclors and signed on behalf of the Board

Mi¥e Jefferies
1irector
23 December 2021
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of IMImobile Limited
Report on the audit of the financial statements

Qpinion

In our opinion:

* IMlImobile Limited’s group financial statements and company financial statements (the “financial statements”) give a true and fair
view of the state of the group’s and of the company’s affairs as at 31 March 2021 and of the group’s loss and the group’s cash flows
for the year then ended;

» the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006;

« the company financial statements have been property prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and
applicable law); and

* the financial statemnents have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2008.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Financial Statements (the “ Annual Report”), which
comprise: the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and Company Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2021; the Consolidated [ncome
Statement and Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, and the Group and
Company Statements of Changes in Equity for the year then ended; and the notes to the finarcial statements, which include a
description of the significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“15As (UKY") and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under ISAs (UK} are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section
of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have abtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements.

Coenclusions relating to going concern

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group's and the company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a
pericd of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the group's and the
company's ability to continue as a going concern.

Qur responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this
report.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’
report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Cur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
infoermation and, accordingly, we do not express ant audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any
form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doeing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. if we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are
required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companies
Act 2006 have been included.

Based on cur work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain opinions and matters
as described below.

Strategic report and Directors’ Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic report and 1¥irectors’
Report for the year ended 31 March 2021 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable
legal requirements.
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In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we
did not identify any matcrial misstatements in the Strategic report and Directors’ Report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Directors' Responsibility Statement, the dircctors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a truce and fair view. The directors are
also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due te fraud or ervor,

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the company’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matiers related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the group or the company or o cease operations, or have no realistic alternative bat to de so.

Auditnrs’ respousthilities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur objeclives arc to oblain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or exror, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinjon. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guaraniee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK} will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstaterments in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including frand, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the group and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and
regulations related to tax legislation and transfer pricing, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material
cffect on the financial statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the financial statements
such as the Companies Act 2006. We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for frandulent manipulation of the financial
statements (inciuding the risk of override of controls), and <determined that the principal risks were related to fraudulent recognition
of revenue. Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included:

* enquiry of management, those charged with governance and the in-house legal team around actual and potential litigation and
claims;
* performing a walkthrough of the revenue to receivables cycle to ensure we understand management's process and controls;

» auditing the risk of management override of controls, including through testing a sample of journal entries and other adjustments
for appropriatencss;

s assessing accounting estimates {because of the risk of management bias), and cvaluating the business rationale of significant
transactions outside the normal course of business; and

e reviewing minutes of meetings of those charged with governance.

‘Lhere are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related te events and transactions reflected in the financial statements. Also,
the risk of not detecting 2 material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the TRC’s website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors” report.

Use of this report

This report, including the epinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter
3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for ne other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility
for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in writing.

13



Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are reguived to yeport to you i, in our opinion:

* we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

* adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or

» certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
¢ the company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibitity.

s A

Gareth Murfitt (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statalory Auditors
Reading

23 Drecember 2021
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Consolidated Income Statement
Yor the year ended 31 March 2021

Year ended Year cnded
Notes 31 March 2021 31 Maich 2020
£00D £000
Revenue 2,5 157,438 171,187
Cost of sales (77,115) (92,080)
Gross profit 5 80,323 79,107
Operating costs:
Other operating costs (58,690) (57,510)
Depreciation and amortisation (13,816) (10,977)
Share-based payment charge 24 (4,810) (2.172)
Acquisition costs 4 (12,027) (3,838)
Restructuring costs 4 {775) -
Operating (loss) / profit 4 {9,795) 4,610
Finance income 7 287 145
Finance cost 7 (1,773) (1,625)
(Loss) / profit before tax (11,281) 3,130
Tax 8 {4,710) (1,102)
(Loss) / profit for the year (15,9913 2,028
(Loss) / profit for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent company (15,976) 1972
Non-controlling interest (15) 56
(Loss) / profit for the year (15,991) 2,028
Year ended Year ended
Note 31 March 2021 31 March 2020
£000 £000
Adjusted EBITDA! 9 21,633 21,597

‘The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements and are all attributable to continuing operations.

! Adjusted for cosls which management de not consider reflect underlying business performance - see nole 9 for details of adjusted performance
measures, adjusting items and a reconciliation of statetory results to adjusted results.



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 March 2021

(Loss) / profit for the year

ltems that may be reclassified subsequently te profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations
Equity holders of the parent company
Non-controlling interest
Net actuarial gains/ (losses) recognised on defined gratuity plan
Equity holders of the parent company
Non-controlling interest

Other comprehensive loss for the year
Total comprehensive {loss) / income for the year
Total comprehensive {(loss)/income for the year attributable to:

Fquity holders of the parent company
Nen-controlling interest

The figures inclnded above are stated net of corporate faxation.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the conselidated financial statements.

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
£000 £000
{15,991} 2,028
(5,951} (1,609)

(76) 140

79 (145)

(5,948) (1,614)
(21,939) 414
(21,848) 218
®@1) 196
(21,939) 414
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2021

Non-current assets

Goodwill

Other intangible assets

Property, plant, equipment and right-of-use assets
Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade receivables and contract assets
Tax receivable

Withholding tax debtor

Other receivables

Total current assets

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Contract liabilitics

Tease Habilities

Provision for contingent cunsideration
Bank borrowings

Tax payable

Total current liabilities
Net current (liabilities)/assets

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities

Provision for contingent consideration
Bank borrowings

Provision for defined benefit gratuity plan
Deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liahilities
Net assets

Equity attributable to the owners of the parent company
Share capital

Share premium

Translation reserve

Shate-based payment reserve

Capital restructuring reserve

Retained earnings

Equity attributable to the owners of the parent company
Non-controlling interest

Total equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Note

10
11
12
22

13
14

17

18
19
20

18
19
20
21
22

23
23
23
23
23
23

As at As at
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
£000 £000
67,779 70,028
47,123 53,398
3,795 6,517
179 724
118,876 130,667
54,494 25,089
29,426 40,238
1,495 2,717
271 1,172
4,072 5,482
99,758 74,698
(92,978} (49,773)
(11,587) (10,437}
(1,048) (1,602)
(6,793) (3.500}
- (4,006}

(507) -
(112,913) (69,318}
(13,155} 5,380
(227} (1,231)

- {4,924)

- (42,741)
(1,243) (1,299)
(7.180) (7.121)
(8,650} (37.316)
97,071 78,731
9,278 7479
68,826 27,553
(6,085) (134)
0,236 8,660
(29,040) (29,040)
48,098 64,207
97,333 78,727
(262} 4
97,071 78,731

‘The financial statements of IMImobile Limited (Company number: 08802718) were approved by the Board and authorised for issuc on

23 December 2021. Signed on behalf of the Board

Mike Jefferies
Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Balance at 1 April 2019

Profit for the year

Foreign exchange differences

Net actuarial losses recognised on defined
gratuity plan

Credit to equity for share-based payments
(note 24}

Proceeds from share issue, including share
options exercised, net of expenses

Diebit to share-based payment reserve

Deferred tax on share-based payments

Tax relief on exercised share-based payments

Issug of shares as part of acquisition

Balance at 31 March 2020

Loss for the year

Foreign exchange differences

Net actuarial gains recognised on defined
gratuity plan

Credit to equity for share-based payments
(notc 24)

Proceeds from share options exercised {note
23)

Deferred tax on share-based payments

Dividends paid

Balance at 31 March 2021

Total equity
attributable to
Share-based Capital shareholders Non-

Share Share Translation payment  restructuring Retained  of the parent controlling Total
capital premium reserve Teserve reserve earnings company interest equity
£000 £000 £000 £000 E£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
6,671 6,666 1,475 12,540 (29,040) 62,000 60,312 (192) 60,120
- - - - - 1,972 1,972 56 2,028
- - {1,609} - - - (1,609) 140 (1,469}
. . - - - (145) {143) - {145)
- - - 2,319 - - 2318 - 2,319
792 20,391 - (738) - - 20,445 - 20,445
- - - (5,461) - - (5461) - (5,461)
- - - - - 45 45 - 45
- - - - - 335 335 - 335
16 198 - - - - 514 - 514
7,479 27,555 (134) 8,660 (29,040) 64,207 78,727 4 78,731
- - - - - {15,976) (15,976) {15) 15,991)
- - (5,951) - - - {5.951) (76) (6,027}
- - - - - 79 79 - 79
- - - 3,921 - - 3,921 - 3,921
1,799 41,271 - (6,325} - - 36,745 - 36,745
- - - - - 212) (212) - 212
- - - - - - - (175) (175}
9,278 68,826 (6,085) 6,256 (29,040) 48,098 97,333 (262) 97,071

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 March 2021

Cash generated from operations
Tax paid
Net cash from operating activities

Investing activities

Interest received

[Purchase of intangible assets

Purchase of property, plant & equipment

Acquisition of subsidiary net of cash acquired

Contingent consideration as part of Rostrvm acquisition
Contingent consideration as part of Infracast acquisition
Contingent consideration as part of Healthcare acquisition

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities

Principal element of lease payments

Bank loan received

Repayment of bank foans

Bank borrowing costs

Loan from/to related party

Interest paid

Proceeds from issuance of Ordinary shares
Dividends paid

Net cash generated by financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consclidated financial statements.

Notes

19

18
20
20
20
16

23

13

Year ended Year cnded
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
£000 £000
8,948 20,875
(2,779 (2,587)
6,169 18,288
260 33
(6,292) (6,248)
(1,064) (657)
- (35,673)

{750) -

- (4,947)

- (1,750)
(7,846) (49,242}
(1,819) (1,429)
- 51,276
(46,344) (24,537
(a0 {649
44,127 {889)
{984) (1,386)
36,745 20,445
{175) -
31,540 42,831
29,863 11,877
25,089 13,247
{458) (35)
54,494 25089
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

1.

Basis of preparation

The financial information contained in the consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2021 has
been prepared applying the recognition and measurement principles set out in International Financial Reporting Standards in
accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The consolidated financial statements of IMImobile Limited and its subsidiarics, hercafter referred to as “the Group”, are
prepared under the historical cost convenlion, as modified by the revaluation of certain financial assets and financial liabilities,
and in accordance with the UK Companies Act 2006, The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity
with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting cstimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.

General information

IMImobile Limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Fngland and Wales (registration number
08802718). The registered address of the Company is 5 5t John's 1 .ane, London, ECIM 4BH, United Kingdom.

Following completion of the acquisition by Cisco, IMImebile PLC delisted from AIM and was renamed IMImobile Timited.
Going concern

The Company’s business activities, together with factors likely to affect its future development, performance and positicn are
set out in the Strategic Report and Directors” Report.

At 31 March 2021 the Group had net assets of £97.1 million including £54.5 million of cash and cash equivalents (31 March 2020
net assets of £78.7 million including £25.1 million of cash and cash equivalents),

In determining whether the consolidated financial statements should be prepared on the going concern basis, the Directors
considered the Company’s and the Group’s business activities together with factors likely to affect its future development,
performance and its financial position including cash flows, liquidity position and the principal risks and uncertainties relating
to its business activities.

‘The COVID-19 pandemic has had wide ranging impacts on the Global cconomy and the impact on the Group's customers,
suppliers, employees and operations is considered in the Strategic Report on page 4.

Based on cash flow forecasts which take into account the Directors’ best estimate of current sales orders and opportunitics,
expenditure forecasts as well as the Group’s current cash balance and support from Cisco following acquisition, the Directors
consider it appropriate to prepare the Company’s financial statements on the going concern basis.

Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs”)
New and amended standards adopted hy the Group
There have been no new or amended standards adopted by the Group during the year.
New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

There are no standards that are not yet effective and that would be expected to have a material impact on the entity in the
current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by the Group entities:
Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entitics controlled by the Company
(its subsidiaries) made up to 31 March each ycar. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has the power over the investee;
. is exposed, or has rights, to a variable return from its involvement with the investee; and
*  has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of in any year are included in the consolidated income statement from the date
of acquisition or up to the date of disposal.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of consideration transferred. Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is not amortised but is tested annually for impairment.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial information of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies into line
with those used by the Group. Inter-company balances and transactions, including inter-company profits and unrealised profits
and losses are eliminated on consolidation.

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group.
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Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially
at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis. When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value
at the date when control is Jost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in the income statement.

Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. 1f the contingent consideration is
classified as equity, then it is not re-measured and settiement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes in
the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

Fubities included wnder commen control

The following entities are considered to be under the control of the Group and therefore have been included in the consolidated
financial statements for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2021:

Functional Principal % of share class held by Share /

Name of entity currency activilies the Group as at 31 March: Stock class
2021 2020

United Kingdom (5 St John's Lane, London, ECIM 4BH)
INMImaobile Furope Limiled GRP n 100% 100% Ordinary
Tapzbult Limited Gor [E)] 100% 100% Ordinary
Txtlocal Limited GBr (18] 100% 100% Ordinary
Textlocal Limited GBr Dormant 100% 100% Ordinary
Chilli Digital Europe Limited GBP @) 100% 100% Ordinary
IMImobile Seftware Limited GBP Non-trading 100% 100% Ordinary
IMImobile International Limited GBre Non-trading 100% 100% Ordinary
1MImobile SAT Limited GBP Pormant 85% 85% Ordinary
IMImobile Holdings Limited GBP [Dormant 100% 100% Ordinary
Healthcare Communications UK Limited GBP 1) 100% 100% Ordinary
IMImobile African Haldings Limited ZAR Non-trading 100% 100% Ordinary
IMImobile South Africa 1 Limited ZAR Non-lrading 73%* 76% Ordinary
IMImobile Seuth Africa 2 Limited ZAR Non-trading 100% 100% Ordinary
IMImobile Intelligent Networks Limited GBP {1) 100% 106% Ordinary
Rostrvm Solutions Limited GBP ) 100% 100% Ordinary
Rostrum Solutions Limited GBP Darmant 100% 100% Ordinary
USA (750 Park of Commerce Blwd., Ste. 400 Boca Raton, FL 33487, USA)
ACinteractive Corp. usp {1} & (3) 100% 100% Common
USA (c/o Hahn & [{ahn LLP, 8% Floor, 301 Easl Colorado Boulevard, Pasadena, California $1101-1977, USA)
IMlmobile, Inc. usp (1) 100% 100% Common
Impact Moebile USA, Inc usD (1} 100% 100% Common
USA (201 E Markham St, Little Rock, AR 72201, USA)
IMImobile North America, Inc. usD (1) 100% 100% Common
Canada (Suite 400, 60 Adelaide St. East, Toronto, ON, M5C 3E4, Canada)
IMImobile Canada Inc CAD {1} 100% 100% Common
UAE (P.O Box 293593, Office # 624, Building 5EA, Dubai Airport Free Zone, Dubar}
IMI Mobile VAS Limited FZE AED (1) & (2) 100% 100% Ordinary
IMImobile Limited FZE AED 1y & (2) 100% 100% Ordinary
South Africa {Clearwater Cifice Park, Building ne. 3, Corner Christraan De Wet and Millenmuum Boulevard, Steubensvalley, Roodepoort, South Africa)
IMImobile South Africa Pty Limited 7AR (1) 69%* 70% Ordinary
Ukhozi Digital Pty Limited LAR Nen-trading 39%* 4% Ordinary
Nigeria (2nd Fioor, Na 32, Shiro Street, Fadey: - Yaba, Lagos State. Nigena)
1MI Mobile VAS Nigeria Limited NGN (2) 100% 100% Ordinary
Nigeria (32 Adegbola Streel, PO BOX 6920, Ikeja, Lagos, Amufowose, Lagos, Nigeria)
Skinkers MNigeria Private Limited NGN Non-trading 100% 100% Ordinary
Tunisia (Regus, tums Berges du Lac Business Center, Immeuble “Shm”, 2eme Elage, Rue de I'Euro, Les Berges du Lac 2, 1052 - Tunis, Tunisia)
IMImabile VAS Tunisia Limited TND 1) &(2) 10e% 100% Ordinary
Ghana (H No F486, Nvaniba Estate, Accra, Grealer Accra, PO Box 14310, Accra, Ghana)
TMImabile Ghana Limited GHC Non-trading 7% 7% Ordinary
British Virgin Islands (Palm Grove House, P.O. Box 438, Road Tewn, Tortota, British Virgin Islands)
Lenco International Limited ZAR Norn-trading 80%* 81% Onrdinary
Lenco Technelogy Group Limited ZAR (1) 80%* 81% Ordinary
India (Plot Ne. 770, Road No. 44, Jubilee Hills, Hyderabad - 500 033, Indha}
1MI Mobile Private Limited INR (1) & (2) 100% 100% Ordinary
IMImobile Clond Conununications (India) Private Limited ** INR (1) 100% - Ordinary
Bangladesh (House No: 13, A5 (5th floor), Road No: 113/ A, Gulshan, Dhaka, Bangiadesh)
IMI Mobile VAS Limiled BDT M & (2 100% 100% Ordinary
Sri Lanka (No: 94/1, Dharmapala Mawatha, Colomba 07, 5ri Lanka)
IMI Mobile VAS Private Limited LKR {2) 160% 100% Ordinary
Nepal (124, Lal Colony Marg, Lal Durbar, Kathmandu, Nepal)
IMI Mobile Nepal Private Limited NPR 1) &(2) 100% 1007% Ordinary
Myanmar (R-1006, 10th Flaor - Business Suites, Myanmar Center Tower 2,192 Kaba Aye Pagoda Road, Bahan Township, Yengon, Myanmar)
In{Imobile VAS Myanmar Limited MMK (1) &2) 100% 100% COrdinary
1) Conpmirnications soffware and soliclions (2) Value added services solitions (3) Mobile payments

* lhe change in ownership during the year resulled in an increase in equity atiribiiable to owners of the parent company of £1,000
** incorpeorated in the year
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The fellowing subsidiaries within the consolidated financial statements have taken advantage of the audit exemption
provisions under section 479A of Companies Act 2006 in relation to their annual accounts for the year ended 31 March 2021:

Name of entity Registered number  Name of entity Registered number
IMImobile Furope Limited 04833052 IMimoebile Intellipent Networks Limited (04163740
‘lap2Bill Limited 03212199 Healthcare Communications UK Limited (4084131
Txtocal Limited 05578161 [MImobile African Holdings Limited 09632399
Chilli Digital Europe Limited 08123133 IMImnobile South Africa 1 Limited 09634021
IMImobile Software Limited 04120457 iMImobile South Africa 2 Timited 09633868
IMImobile lndernational Limited 05175576 Rostrvm Solutions Limited 04216427

Foreign currencies

[tems included in the consolidated financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary econemic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency™). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in UK Pounds Sterling (“the presentational currency”).

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the presentational currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the scttlement
of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilitics denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.

Translation differences on financial assets are included in other comprehensive income.

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hy per-inflationary economy})
thathave a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

{a) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented arc translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;
(b) equity items other than retained carnings have been translated at historical rates in line with JAS 21;

(c) income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates; and

(d) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill arising, on the acquisition of a foreign entity is treated as an asset of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate.

Operating segments

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Chief Operating Decision
Maker (CODM]). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the Board of Directors that makes strategic decisions.

The CODM considers results principally by operating division split between services sold on cloud communication products
and operator VAS and mobile payment services, which are further split by geographical region. This forms the Group’s
operating and reperting segments.

The performance of the operating segments is assessed based on a measure of revenue and gross profit (the result for the
segment). Any sales between segments are carried out at arm’s length. As operating costs are shared across regions, results
from gross profit to adjusted EBITDA are assessed between services sold on cloud communication preducts, operator VAS and
mobile payment services, and central adjusted operating costs. Results from adjusted EBITDA to profit after tax are assessed
on a consolidated basis only in the current year.

The Group does not regularly provide information in relation to the assets or liabilities of operating segments to management.
Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised in accordance with the requirements of 1ITRS 13 Rewenue from Contracts with Customers. The Group
recognises revenue to depict the transfer of promised services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those services. This core principle is delivered in a five-step model
framework:

. Identify the contract(s) with the customer;

»  Identify the performance obligations in the contract;

. Determine the transaction price;

. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
s Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract with a customer and
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers or provides control of a
product or service to a customer.

Where the Group enters into arrangements te deliver multiple elements (such as a perpetual license together with a period of
servicing and maintenance), such elements are separated for recognition based on stand-alore value where sold and delivered
as scparate performance obligations. If such elements cannot be separated they are treated as a single performance obligation
and recognised over the period of delivery when the criteria for recognition have been met. Amounts incurred but not yet billed
are classified as contract assets. Revenues are typically billed up to 60 days after month end and classified as contract assets
until this point.
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Monthly recurring revemie

Revenues from hosting and for access to the Group’s cloud-based communications and Cl’aa5 software, including the use of
shoricodes to run the service, form a single performance obligation and is recognised over the period of the contract as the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the service.

Revenue share from content related sales and usage-based revenue from messages sent across mulliple channels is triggered
by the actions of the Group’s customers (or their end users) using the relevant platform they are connected to. Revenue is
recognised at a point in Hme as the content sale or message delivery is generated.

Revenue generated from the provision of professional services to manage software applications for customers arc recognised
pro-rata over the period the services are provided.

Where the Group provides services to mobile network operators which enable the delivery of wholesale messages, revenue is
reported on a gross basis where the Group acts as principal and controls the right to perform the service and successfully
deliver the messages at a point in time.

The Group acts as agent when providing carrier billing or payments made via mobile devices services so revenue and payments
to suppliers are recorded in revenue on a net basis, representing the margin carned. Revenue recognised within turnover relate
only to the commission earned on hosting cach service and are recognised at the point the message or content is delivered to
the end user. Amounts billed and collected on behalf of third parties (also known as pass through revenues) are not recognised
within Tevenue as the Group doesn't control or handle the content or set the price charged to the end user.

Non-recurring revenue

License revenues are derived from the safe of perpetual end user licenses for the right to use software as it exists at the point
the customer is able to usc the service for its intended purpose. The Group assesses whether ongoeing contractual obligations,
such as annual maintenance charges, represent a performance obligation that is distinct from the license. If the licence is distinct
it is recognised separately from the other performance obligations on customer acceptance following installation at the
customer’s locations as per contracted terms.

Non-recurring professional service revenues relate to one-time configuration, setup and change requests and are recognised at
the point the customer is able to usc the service for its intended purpose, or upon completion of designated milestones where
the Group has an enforceable right to payment.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount can be
reliably measured. Interest income is accrued on a time basis by reference to the principal outstanding,.

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the consideration transferred over the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value
of the non-controlling interest in the acquiree.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each cash generating unit (“CGU”), or groups of CGUs, that is
expected to benefit from the synergics of the combination. Each CGU or group of CGUs to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposecs. Goodwill
is monitored at the CGU level.

Other intangible assets
(a) Assets acquired as part of a business combination

Trade names, customer relationships and software acquired as part of acquisitions are capitalised separately from goodwill as
intangible assets if their value can be measured reliably on iniHal recognition and it is probable that the expected future
economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the Group. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful
lives of 5 to 7 years.

(b) Capitalised development costs

Costs asgociated with maintaining software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs that are
directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products controtled by the Group are
recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

*  itis technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;

management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it;

there is an ability to use or sell the software product;

it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits;

*  adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the software product
are available; and

s the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software product include the software development employee costs
and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred. Interest costs are not
capitalised.

Software development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives, which do not exceed 7 years.
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(c) Other intangible assets

Trademarks and licenses

Separately acquired trademarks and Jicenses are shown at historical cost. Trademarks and licenses acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Trademarks and licenses have a finite useful life and are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to alocate the cost of
trademarks and licenses over their estimated useful lives of up to 10 vears.

Software licenses
Software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. These costs
are amortised over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 years.

Impairment of assets

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of goodwill for each CGU is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher
of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense ard is not
subsequently reversed.

Other intangible assets not ready to use are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are
subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events er changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount May not be recoverable,

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an assct’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely independent cash inflows, Prior impairments of
non-financial assets are reviewed fer possible reversal at each reporting date.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrving amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years, A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in the consolidated income statement.

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

The initial cost of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its werking condition and location for its intended use. Opening right-of-use assets are measured as equal to the
lease liability.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic bernefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derccognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the
consolidated income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Projects under which assets are not ready for their intended use are carried at cost and are only depreciated once they are ready
for nse.

When assets are sold, their cost and accumulated depreciation are eliminated and any gain or loss resulting from their disposal
is included in the consolidated income statement,

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of operational assets. The estimated useful
lives by class of asset are as follows:

Computers and servers 3-6 years

Oftice equipment 2-5 years

Furniture & fixtures 2-10 years

Vehicles B years

Leasehold improvements Lower of estimated useful life and lease term
Right-of-use assets Lease term

The useful life and depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the method and period of depreciation are
consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property, plant and equipment.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s statement of financial position when the Group becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument,

Financial assets and financial liabilitics are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or tossy are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilitics at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Classification of financial asseis

Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and contract assets, tax receivables, other receivables (excluding prepayments)
and withholding tax debtors are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less any allowance for expected credit losses.
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Impairment of fnandal assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at cach balance sheet date. Financial assets are impaired where there
is objective evidence that, as a result of vne or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated futurce cash flows of the investment have been impacted.

Credit risk refers to the risk thata counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group,
and arises principally from the Group's trade receivables and contract assets. It is the Group's policy to minimise its credit risk
exposure. This includes undertaking careful due diligence of new customers and getting full or part payment in advance of
providing services where credit risk is considered higher, The Group regularly reviews existing customers on an individual
basis for changes in the credit quality of trade receivables and contract assets from the date the receivable was created to the
date the balance is settled.

The group applies the TFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets and amounts due from related parties. Lifetime HCl. represents the
expected credit losses that will result from all possible defauit events aver the expected life of a financial instrument.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped together based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due. The group has deemed that the contract assets balance has substantially the same
risk characteristics as trade receivables and has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for trade receivables ate a
reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the contract assets.

The ECL. is calculated through assessing the probability of the non-payment of the castomer, this probability is then multiplied
by the amount of the expected loss arising from default to determine the expected credit loss for the trade receivables and
contract asscts. If a balance is confimmed as not be collectable, the gross carrying value of the assct is written off against the
associated provision.

Disposal groups held for sale
Disposal groups are held for sale where their carrying amount is to be recovered principally through a sale transaction and a
sale is considered highly probable. They are stated at the lower of cost and fair value less costs to selt.

Derecognition of financial asscts
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash amd cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank balances, cash on hand, deposits and other short-term highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. All cash and cash
equivalents are measured at amortised cost. The Group discloses cash on a net basis where it has the right to offset.

Financial labilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instrumennts
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instrumenls issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial Habilities

Provisions for contingent consideration and defined benefit gratuity plan are measured at fair value through profit and loss
(FVTPL). A financial liability is classified at FVTPL if it is classified as held for trading, such as a derivative instrument, or if it
has been designated as such upon initial recognition, with net gains and losses, including interest expenses, recognised in profit
or loss.

Trade and other payables, lease liabilities and bank borrowings are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Bank botrowing costs are capitalised as incurred and amortised over the period of the loan.

Interest expenses and exchange rate gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Gains or losses in connection with
derecognition are also recognised in profit or loss.

Employee benefits
Defined benefit gratuity plan

The Group has a post-employment unfunded gratuity plan in place for all IMI Mabile Private Limited employees {(*defined
benefit gratuity plan”). An employee who has completed five years of service is entitled to a cash bonus calculated as a fraction
of the employee's last drawn salary multiplied by the number of completed years of service, capped at INR 2,000,000.

The expected costs of these henefits are accrued over the period of employment using the same accounting methodology as
used for defined benefit pension plans. Actuarial gains and losses arising from ex perience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are charged to other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.

The Projected Unit Credit Method is used to determine the present value of the defined benefit obligation and the related
current service cost and, where applicable, past service cost.

These obligations are valued pericdically by independent qualified actuaries.
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Defined contribution plan

‘Ihe Group operates defined contribution plans for certain employees. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under
which the Group pays fixed contributions into a scparate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay
further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service
in the current and prior periods. These contributions are expenscd in the peried they are incurred.

Employee share-based payments

The Group operates a number of equity-scttled, share-based payment plans, under which the entity receives services from
employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense in the income statement with a corresponding increase in
equity. The total amount to be expensed is measurcd at the grant date by reference fo the fair value of the eptions granted
measured using the Black-Scholes option valuation model:

* including any market performance conditions {for example, an entity’s share price);

s excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions (for example, profitability, sales
growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity over a specified time period); and

e including the impact of any non-vesting cenditions (for example, the requirement for employees to save).

Non-market performance and service conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to
vest. The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied and the employees become unconditionally cntitled to the options.

At the end of each reperting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based on
expecied leavers and estimated achievement for the non-market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to
original estimates, if any, in the consolidated income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Group issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction
costs are credited to share capital (nominal value)} and share premium.

The social security contributions payable in conneclion with the grant of the share options are included in the share-based
payment charge except where they are payable by the employee.

Where optiens are cancelled by the Group and settled in cash the expense is accelerated in the period in which the options are
settled, with the cash payment recognised in the share-based payment reserve.

Accounting poticies adopted in relation to the valuation of specific acquisition related contingent consideration and put/call
options are provided in note 24.

Company share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

Taxation
The Group's tax charge is the sum of total cutrent and deferred tax charges.
Current tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income statement,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in ether comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
1t establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected ta be paid to the tax authorities.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the
consolidated income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively ¢nacted by the balance sheet date.

Beferred tax

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted
for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and fiabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable wemporary differences arising on investrents in subsidiaries and associates,
and interest in joint ventures, except where the Group is able i control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temperary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
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The recognition of deferred tax assets is determined by reference to the Group's estimate of recoverability, using models where
appropriate to forecast future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have only been recognised for territories where the Group
considers that it is probable there would be sufficient taxable profits for the future deductions to be utilised. If it is probable
that some portion of these assets will not be realised, then no asset is recognised in relation to that portion.

The carrying amount is reviewed at each balance sheet date. If market cenditions improve and future results of operations
exceed our current expectations, our existing recognised deferred tax assets may be adjusted, resulting in future tax benefits.
Alternatively, if market conditions deteriorate or future results of operations are less than expected, future assessments may
resultin a determination that some or all of the deferred 1ax assets are not realisable. As a result, all or a portion of the deferred
tax assets may need to be reversed.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liabitity is settled or the asset is
realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred fax is
charged or credited in the statement of income, except when it relates to items charged or credited in other comprehensive
income, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in other comprehensive income.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arc offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set oft current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when they relate to taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabitities on a net basis.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS reguires the use of estimates and assumptions that affects the
reported amounts of assets and labilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reported period. Altheugh these estimates are based on management's best knowledge of the amount,
event or actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. The critical accounting judgements and key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date derive from management assumptions in respect of;

Critical accounting judgements
Revenue recogrition

When the Group sells services as a principal, income and payments to suppliers are reported on a gross basis in revenue and
cost of sales. Tf the Group sells services as an agent, revenue and payments to suppliers are recorded in revenue on a net basis,
representing the margin garned. Whether the Group is considered to be the principal or an agent in the transaction depends on
analysis by management of both the legal form and substance of the agreement between the Group and its business partners.
Such judgements impact the amount of reported revenue and cost of sales but do not impact reported assets, liabilitics or cash
flows.

The Group would have recognised pass through revenues tofalling £14,465,000 (2020: £23,828,000) within revenue and cost of
sales had management judged that the Group were principal, rather than agent, in billing revenue transactions where amounts
are billed and collected on behalf of third parties.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
frpairment reotews

Management undertake periodic tests for impairment of goodwill if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. Impairment testing is an area involving management judgement, requiring
assessment as to whether the carrying value of goodwill can be supperted by the net present value of future cash flows. In
calculating the net present value of the future cash flows, certain assumptions are required to be made in respect of highly
uncertain matters.

Management consider the cash flow growth rate, expressed as the compound annual growth rates in the initial five years of
the business plans and forecasts, to be the key source of estimation uncertainty. The growth rates used across the cash-
generating units would need to decreasc as follows before impairment would be required:

Cash flow growth rate:

At which

Used in impairment

impairment would be

review required

Lurope large enterprise 21% (29%)
Textlocal 16% (44%)
Healthcare 537% (21%)
Scuth Africa 22% (22%)
North America 11% (16%)

The long-term growth rate for North America would need to be (21%) in the current year to cause an impairment. For all other
CGUs a change in long term growth rates is not deemed to be reasonably possible to cause an impairment in either year.

Taxation including deferred taxation

The calculation of the Group’s total tax charge necessarily involves a degree of estimation and judgement in respect of certain
items. Provisions for tax contingencics require management to make judgements and estimates in relation to tax audit issucs
and exposures. Tax benefits are not recognised unless it is probable that the tax position will be sustained.
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Management must also assess the probability that the deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income, Deferred
tax assets relating to Josses and other timing differences of £8,135,000 (2020: £2,781,000) have not been recognised (see note 22).
Of this balance, management consider there to be particular uncertainty over the range of £nil to £700,000 (2020: £nil to £783,000)
relating to the estimation of forecast future taxable income in IMI Mobile Private Limited.

As at 31 March 2021 the carrying amount of deferred tax assets was £179,000 (2020: £724,000) and the carrying amount of
deferred tax liabilities was £7,180,000 {2020: £7,121,000).

The accounting policics in relation to these items are disclosed in notes 1 and 2.
Operating (loss}/profit

Cperating (loss}/ profit for the year is stated after charging:

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
£000 £000
epreciation of property, plant and equipment 3,942 3,380
Amortisation of intangible assets 3472 2,257
Amortisation of intangible assets added on acquisition 6,402 5,340
Opecrating lease rentals 172 267
Staff costs (note 6 - including share-based payment charge) 49,09 335,449
Acquisition costs (note 9) 12,027 3,838
Restructaring costs {note 9) 775 ~
Loss on disposal of PPE and intangible assets 471 17
Impairment of trade receivables 1,330 2,606
Foreign exchange gains (1,566) (797)
Auditors’ remuneration
The analysis of the auditors’ remuneration is as follows:
Year ended Year ended
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
£000 £000
PFees payable to the Group's auditors and their associates for the audit
of the group’s annual report and financial statements:
- Group 362 318
- Company 27 27
Total fees 3189 345
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Operating segmoents

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by operating segment:

Year ended 31 March 2021

Revenue
Cloud communication products
Operalor VAS and mobile payments

Total revenue

Gross profit
Cloud communication products
Operator VAS and mobile payenls

Total gross profit

Adjusted operating costs {note 9)
Cleud eommunication products
Operator VAS and mobile payments
Central

Total adjusted operating costs

Adjusted LBITDA {note 9}
Cloud communication preducts
Operator VAS and mobile payments
Central

Total adjusted EBITDA

Depreciation and amortisation
Share-based payment charge
Acquisition costs
Restructuring costs

Operating loss
Finance income

Finance cost

Loss before tax
Tax

T.oss after tax

Eurcpe
£000

89,216
2,656

Americas
£000

38,559
742

APAC
£0060

6,826
8,075

MEA
£000

8,114
3,250

Total
£000

142,715
14,723

91,872

39,301

14,901

11,364

157,428

37,077
1,159

26,221
380

3,200
1,314

5,015
2,752

71,513
8.810

38,236

26,801

7,519

7,767

80,323

(47,905)
(8,795)
{1,990)

(58,690)
23,608
15
{1,990)
21,633
(13.816)
(4,810)
(12,027)
(775)
(9,795)
287
(1,773)

(11,281)
(4,710)

(15,991)
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Year ended 31 March 2020

Revenue
Cloud communication products
Operator VAS and mobile payments

Total revenue

Gross profit
Cloud communication products
Operator VAS and mobile payments

Total gross profit

Adjusted operating costs (note 9)
Cloud communication products
Operator VAS and mobile payments
Centyal

Total adjusted operating costs

Adjusted EBITDA (note 9)
Cloud communication products
Operator VAS and mobile payments
Central

Total adjusted EBITDA

Depreciation and amortisation
Share-based payment charge
Acquisition costs

Operating profit
Finance income

Finance cost

Profit before tax
Tax

Profit after tax

Europe
£000

107,001
4,535

Americas
£000

25,787
1,281

APAC
£000

8,844
9,163

MEA
£000

9,250
3,326

Total
£000

150,882
20,305

111,536

27,068

18,007

14,576

171,187

37,760
2,600

18,364
1,069

4,012
6,012

4,386
4,904

64,522
14,585

40,360

19,433

10,024

9,29¢

79,107

(41,767)
(13,499)
(2,244)

(57,51)
22,755
1,086
(2,244)

21,597

(10,977)
(2172)
(3,838)

4,610
145
{1,623)

3,130
(1,102)

2,028

—_——

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group's accounting policies described in note 2 for each
period. The revenue reported is measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated income statement. Revenues
are attributed Lo countries on the basis of the customer’s [ocation. The Group measures segment profit and loss as gross profit

as reported.

The following is an analysis of the revenue and gross profit of the Group's top 5 customers (based on current year gross profit):

Year ended 31 March 2021
Customer A
Customer B
Customer C
Customer D
Customer E

Year ended 31 March 2020
Customer A
Customet B
Customer C
Customer )
Customer F

Gross Gross

Revenue Revenue profit profit
£000 % of total £000 % of fotal
7,040 4% 6,668 8%
10,146 6% 4,538 6%
6,663 4% 2,292 3%
6,273 4% 2,235 3%
2,229 1% 2,140 3%
Gross Gross

Revenue Revenue profit profit
£000 % of total £000 % of total
3,879 2% 3,516 4%
28,656 17% 5,150 7%
7,925 5% 2,807 4%
4,573 3% 1,767 2%
1,847 1% 1,778 2%
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Revenue

The Group derives its revenue from contracts with customers for the transfer of services over time and at a point in time in the
following major product lines. This is consistent with the revenue information thaf is disclosed above for each reportable
segment under 1FRS 8 Operating Scghients.

Year ended Year ended
31 Mareh 2021 31 March 2020
£000 £000
Disaggregation of revenue:
MRR
- monthly hosting, access and shortcode fees Over time 34,94 25,158
- revenae share and usage Point in time 112,140 135,272
- professional services Point in time 971 1,787
NER
- perpetual licenses Point in time 404 1,318
- professional services Point in time 8,979 7,652
157,438 171,187

During the year the Group recognised revenue of £10,020,000 (2020: £8,335,000) related to contract liabilities carried-forward
from the prior year. No revenue was recognised in the either year from performance obligations satisfied {or partially satisfied)
in prier years. All remaining performance obligations are comprised of contract liabilities of £11,587,000 at 31 March 2021 (2020
£10,437,000).

Additional veluntary disclosures

The fellowing disclosures are provided for additional purposes only and does not form part of the Group’s segmental reporting
under IFRS 8. In addition to reviewing operating division and geographical performance, the Chief Operating Decision Maker
also considers the performance of the Group in line with its revenue model, as disclosed in note 2.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and result by revenue model:

MRR NRR Total
£000 £000 £000
Year ended 31 March 2021
Revenue
Cloud communication products 135,242 7,473 142,715
Operator VAS and mobile payments 12,813 1,910 14,723
Tetal revenue 148,055 9,385 157,438
Gross profit
Cloud communication products 64,596 6,917 71,513
Operator VAS and mobile payments 7117 1,693 8,810
Total gross profit 71,713 8,610 80,323
Year ended 31 March 2020
Revenue
Cloud communication products 144,347 6,535 150,882
Operator VAS and mobile payments 17,870 2,435 20,305
Total revenue 162,217 8,970 171,187
Cross profit
Cloud communication products 58,131 6,391 64,522
Operator VAS and mobile payments 12,717 1868 14,585
Total gross profit 70,848 8,259 79,107
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Employee benefits
Staff costs for the Group during the year:

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2021 31 March 2020

£000 £000

Gross wages and salaries 47,539 36,437
Less capitalised development costs (note 11) {6,116} (2,530)
Social security and taxes 2,893 2,558
Share-based payment charge on options granted to Directors and employees (note 24) 3,921 1,284
Pension costs - Trefined benefit gratuity plan (note 21) 121 103
Pension costs - Defined contribution plan 738 595
49,096 35,449

Average monthly number of people employed:

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2021 31 March 2020

Number Number

Sales and Managed solutions 222 196
Development and Product Management 415 401
Operations and Technical Support 437 383
Common Functions 143 134
1,217 1,114

Director emoluments
The emoluments of the Directors of the Company were as follows:

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2021 31 March 2020

£000 £000
Basic salaty 761 790
Cash bonus - 25
Pension 24 24
Gain on exercise of share options 28,365 -
29,150 839

The highest paid directer’s emoluments were as follows:
Year ended Year ended
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
£000 £000
Basic salary 82 300
Cash bonus - -
Pension - 14
Gain on exercise of share options 13,652 -
13,734 312
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Finance income and finance cost

Finance income

Interest income on cash and cash equivalents

Interest income on loans to related party (note 16)

Interest income on tax receivable

OCther interest income relaling to contingent consideration arising on acquisition of
Rostrvim (note 19)

Finance cost

Interest on defined gratuity plan (note 21)

Bank lean interest expense

Amortisation of capitalised bank borrowings cosls {note 20)
Interest in relation to lease liabilities (note 18}

Other interest cost

Current tax

UK tax expense

India tax expense

Other foreign tax expense

Withholding tax expense

Adjustments in respect of prior perieds

Deferred tax (note 22)
Current year
Adjustments in respect of prior periods

Total tax charge

The total tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the result per consolidated income statement as follows:

(Loss) / profit before tax

Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 19% (2020: 19%)

Effect of overseas tax rates

Share-based payment charge not deductible for tax purposes
Other expenses not deductible / (income not taxable)
‘Temporary differences on which deferred tax not recognised
Effect of change in UK tax rate

Adjustments in respect of previous ycars

Total tax charged in the income statement

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
£000 £000

18 33

13 112

117

139 -

287 145

(70) (63)

{983) {1,277)

{591) (185)

(94) (100)

(35) -

(1,773} (1,625)
Year ended Year ended
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
£000 £000

- 354

180 -

1,100 1,044

2,897 753

141 (199)

4,318 1,992

(1) (553)

463 (337)

392 (890)

4,710 1,102
Year ended Year ended
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
£000 £000
(11,281) 3,130
(2,143) 595
2,860 258
(3,415) 413
1,392 (222

5412 583

- 11

404 (536)

4,710 1,102

Taxation for each region is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions. Prior year adjustments relate to the

routine confirmation and agreement of the final tax position in local jurisdictions.

The main rate of UK corporation tax in the pericd was 19%. In March 2020, the Chancellor announced that the planned
reduction in the corporation tax rate to 17% from 1 April 2020 would no longer take place, and the rate would remain at 19%
going forwards. lollowing a Budget resolution on 17 March 2020, the 19% rate was substantively enacted. Accordingly, UK
deferred balances have been recognised at 19% in the period. In the Spring Budget 2021, the Government announced that from
1 April 2023 the corporation tax rate will increase to 25%. The Finance Act 2021 was enacted on 10 June 2021. Since the proposal
to increase the rate to 25% had not been substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, its effects are not included in these
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financial statements. However, it is likely that the overall effect of the change, had it been substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date, would be to increase the tax expense for the year by £946,000 and to increase the deferred tax liability by the same
amount.

Adjusted performance measures

A number of adjusted performance measures are used in this annual report and financial staterments which are not defined or
specified under the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Adjusting items are excluded from our
headline performance measures by virtue of their size and nature, in order to reflect management’s view of the performance of
the Group and facilitate the reader to compare performance against prior years more casily,

The Group believes that alternative performance measures such as adjusted EBITDA are commonly reported by companies in
the markets in which it competes and are widely used by investors in comparing performance on a consistent basis without
regard to factors such as depreciation and amortisation, which can vary significantly depending upon accounting methods
(particulatly when acquisitions have occurred), or based on factors which do not reflect the underlying performance of the
business.

In particular, the Group presents on the face of the income statement those material items of expenditure which, becanse of
their nature and/ or expected infrequency of the events giving rise to them, merit separate presentation to allow sharcholders
to understand the elements of financial performance in the period. The measures used are adjusted EBITDA, adjusied operating
profit, adjusted profit before tax, adjusted profit after tax, adjusted diluted EPS and adjusted cash generated from operations.

Summarised below is a reconcitiation from statutory results to adjusted results.

Statutory Adjusted
results A B C D results
Year ended: £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
31 March 2021
Revenue 157,438 - - - - 157,438
Gross profit 80,323 - - B - 80,323
Operating costs (90,118) 4,810 12,027 775 6,402 (66,104)
Operating profit (9,795) 4,810 12,027 773 6,402 14,219
Profit before tax (11,281} 4,810 12,501 775 6,402 13,207
Tax {4,710) 2,906 (51) - LRIe) (3071}
L oss/ profit after tax {15,991} 7,716 12,450 775 5,186 10,136
EBITDA! 4,021 4,810 12,027 775 - 21,633
Cash generated from operations §,048 - 11,067 775 - 20,790
Statutory Adjusted
results A B C D Results
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
31 March 2020
Revenue 171,187 - - - - 171,187
Gross profit 79,107 - - - - 79,107
Operating costs (74,497} 2172 1,838 - 5340 {63,147)
Operating profit 4,610 2,172 3,838 - 5,340 15,960
Profit before tax 3,130 2,172 3,943 - 5,340 14,585
Tax (1,102) 290 (634) - (867)  (2,313)
Profit after tax 2,028 2,462 3,309 - 4473 12,272
EBI'ITA! 15,387 2172 3.838 - - 21,597
Cash generated from operations 20,873 - 3,09 - - 23,971

Adjustments for costs which management do not consider reflect underlying business performance:

A Share-based payment charge net of tax
»  £nil (2020: £1,035,000) relates to contingent consideration arising from acquisition activities
«  £889,000 (2020: £147,000 credit) relates to put options on acquisitions
o £1,193,000 (2020: £223,000) relates to emplovee share schemes granted as part of the Group’s listing in
June 2014
« 434,000 (2020: £183,000) relates w0 employee share schemes granted as a means of retention for key
employees joining the Group as a result of an acquisition
= £5200,000 (2020: £1,168,000) relates to on-going employee incentive share schemes
Share-based payment charges are commonly adjusted from headline results by similar companies which operate
in the same markets as the Group. Management believe that share-based payments linked to acquisitions and the
Company’s 1PO should be considered one-off in nature and do not reflect the underlying performance of the Group.
On-going employee incentive share schemes have not been consistently granted to employees since PO and the
share-based payment expense in the income statement has therefore not been consistent over this period and the
effect on profits do not reflect the underlying performance of the Group.

B Costs of £3,403,000 directly relating to acquisitions made by the Group including retention bonuses payable to key
managerment personnel of the acquired entity agreed at the time of acquisition. This year there are also costs of

' Unadjusted EBIIDA is operating profit plus deprecialion and amortisation.
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10.

£10,540,000 relating to the acquisition of the Group by Cisco, comprising legal fees, bonuses to the senior
management team and early settlement of debt.

< Restructuring costs, comprising redundancy costs resulting from management’s review of the VAS business unit.
D Amortisation of acquired intangibles. The majority of intangible assets acquired via acquisitions relate to value
which has been created prior to acquisition, the cost of which has been expensed over time. Had the Group chosen
to create these asscts instead of acquiring them the related costs would have been expensed in prior perieds. It is
therefore considered appropriate to exclude the amortisation of these historic expenses from the adjusted results
of the Group.
Goodwill

Gopdwill is monitored by management at the CGU level by region and delivery model. The following is a summary of goodwill
allocation for cach CGU, all of which relate to the cloud communication products operating division:

31 March 2021

Luzope large enterprise
Textlocal

Healthcare

South Africa

North America

Total

31 March 2020

Europe large enterprise
Textlocal

Infracast

Healthcare

South Africa {previously Archer)

North America
Sumotext

Impact Mobile
ExpressPigeon

Total

Foreign

Combination exchange
Opening of CGUs Additions movement Ciosing
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
15,013 - - - 15,013
10,073 - - - 10,073
6,382 - - - 6,382
1,932 - - 90 2,022
36,628 - - (2.339) 34,289
70,028 - - (2,249) 67,779

Foreign

Combination exchange
Opening of CGUs Additions movement Closing
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
7,861 4,880 2,272 - 15,013
10,073 - B - 10,073
4,880 {4,380) - - -
6,382 - - - 6,382
2,242 - - (310) 1,932
- 12,199 24,800 (371) 36,628
1,831 (1,851} - - -
10,145 (10,145} - - -
203 (203) - - -
43,637 - 27,072 (681) 70,028

‘The recoverable amount of all CGUs has been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use pre-tax
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the
five-year period are based on a long term growth rate of 1% (2020: 2%), this does not exceed the long term average growth rate
for the market in which the CGUs operate. The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant

CGu.

CGUs serve a common group of customers such that the key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations for all CGUs are

as follows:

At 31 March 2021
Furope lasge enterprise
TexHocal

lealthcare

South Africa

North America

Cash flow

growth rate

21%
16%
57%
22%
11%

Discount

rate

62%

6.2%
6.2%
16.6%
7.2%

Headroom
£000
160,057
75,800
91,884
3,854
88,694




11.

Cash flow Discount Headroom
At 31 March 2020 growth rate rate £7000
Europe large enterprise 24% 41% 531,033
Textlocal 20% 41% 159,750
IHealthcare 16% 4.1% 61,000
South Africa 34% 121% 6,534
North Anmerica 14% 4.6% 160,747

Value in use is calculated for the various CGUs based on approved business plans and forecasts taking into account certain
variables for each CGU. Below is a description of the principal variables that have been considered for cach CGU with
significant goodwill.

Cash flow growth rake
Cash flow growth rate is expressed as the compound annual growth rates in the itial five years for all cash-generating units
of the business plans and forecasts used for impairment testing.

Impairment tests are performed using the projected cash flows based on Board approved farecasts and strategic plans aver a
five-year period. Cash flow projections from the sixth year are calculated using an expected constant growth rate.

Driscount rake
The discount rates used are disclosed above and take inte account the market risk rate associated with the company. A discount
factor is calculated using the discount rate and applied to future projected cash flows.

Sensitivity analysis

‘The principal variables used across the cash-generating units would need to change to the following levels before impairment

would be required:

At 31 March 2021
Europe large enterprise
Textocal

Healthcare

South Africa

North America

At 31 March 2020
Europe large enterprise
Textlocal

Healthcare

South Africa

North America

Cash flow Discount
growth rate rate
(29%) 26%

(44%) 2%

(1% 36%

(22%) 49%

{16%) 15%

Cash flow Driscount
growth rate rate
(7%) 26%

(43% 30%

(30%) 15%

(17%} 30%

(16%) 10%

The long-term growth rate for North America would need to be (21%) in the current year to cause an impairment. For all other
CGUs a change in long term growth rates is not deemed to be reasonably possible to cause an impairment in cither year.

Other intangible assets

Capitalised

Trade Customer development Trademarks

name relationships costs Software  and licenses Total
Cost £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
At 1 April 2019 1,322 17,079 14,144 5,614 1,831 39,990
Additions - - 434 244 40 718
Internally generated - - 3.530 - - 2,530
On acquisition 1,557 16,466 - 7,235 99 25,337
Disposals - - - - (413) (114)
Exchange differences (14) (137) [ (46} 37 (154)
At 31 March 2020 2,865 33,408 20,114 13,047 1,593 71,027
Additions - - - 176 - 176
Disposals - (241) - (1,138) {1,468) (2,847}
Internally generated - - 6,116 - - 6,116
Exchange differences (148) (1,489) ()] (5%) (10) (1,711)
At 31 March 2021 2,717 31,678 26,224 12,027 115 72,761
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Accumulated amortisation

and impairment
At1 April 2019
Amortisation charge
Disposals

Tixchange differences

At 31 March 2020

Amortisation charge
Disposals
Exchange differences

At 31 March 2021
Carrying value:

At 31 March 2020
At 31 March 2021

assets within this category.

Capitalised

Trade Customer development Trademarks
name relationships costs Software and licenses Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £00¢
313 3,847 2,579 2,301 1,343 10,383
316 3,935 1,730 1,345 271 7,397
- - - {414) (414)
(47} 29 1 8 72 63
582 7,811 4,310 3,654 1,272 17,629
395 4,570 3,258 1,647 4 9.874
- (100 - {463) {1,266) (1,829)
(8) 47 (®) {89) 2 (36)
969 12,348 7,560 4,749 12 25,638
2,283 25,597 15,804 9,393 321 53,398
1,748 19,330 18,664 7,278 103 47123

Property, plant, equipment and right-of-use assets

Right-of-use

Cost ot valuation:
At 1 April 2019

Opening right-of-use
assels

Re-m

eagnrement of

existing leasc liabilities
Additions

On acquisition
Disposal

Exchange differences

At 31 March 2020

Additions
Disposal
Exchange differences

At 31 March 2021

Assets
E£000

1419
183

2,560

4,162

167
(1,276)

3,058

Capitalised development costs is the only category of intangible assets which are internally generated. This is the case for all

Leasehold Furniture Office Computers
Improvements & Fixtures  Equipment Vehicles & Servers Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
2,565 700 536 232 16,565 20,598
- - - - - 1,419
{183) - - - . .
9 79 16 - 553 3,217
- - 120 - 714 834
- 6) @ - (358) (366)
(76) (18) (17) (10) 73 (48)
2,315 755 653 222 17,547 25,654
13 8 - - 876 1,064
(788) (376) (128) (222) (978) (3.768)
2 46 2) - 153 204
1,542 433 523 - 17,598 23,154

37



Right-of-use Leasehold Furniture Office Computers

Assets Improvements & Fixtures  Equipment Vehicles & Servers Total
£000 £0600 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Accamulated
depreciation:
At1 April 2019 - 1,995 529 508 74 13,145 16,251
Charge for the year 1,384 178 71 48 3 1,69 3,380
Dispaosal - - (%) {9) - (339) (349)
Exchange differences - 63) (16) 2 (2) {606} (145)
At 31 March 2020 1,334 2,110 579 553 75 14,436 19,137
Charge for the year 1,757 14 33 61 - 2,057 3,942
Disposal (1,212} (612) {348) (128) {75) (922) (3,297)
Exchange differences - 1 50 (22) - (452) 423
At 31 March 2021 1,929 1,513 334 464 - 15,119 19,359
Net book value:
At 31 March 2020 2,778 205 176 100 147 3111 6,517
At 31 March 2021 1,129 29 99 59 - 2479 3,795
13. Cash and cash equivalents
As at As at
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
£000 £000
Unrestricted
Cash on hand and at bank 53,904 24,883
Restricted
Short-term bank deposits 390 206
Cash and cash equivalents 54,494 25,089
Restricted short-ierm bank deposits represent cash balances deposited in bank accounts attracting a preferential interest rate
and are typically deposited for a peried of 90 to 180 days. Preferential interest rates are agreed in advance of the deposit being
transferred and depend on the prevailing local rates and market conditions at the time.
14. Trade receivables and contract assets

As at As at
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
£000 £000

Trade receivables
- revenue to be collected on behalf of the Grougp 28,388 23,748
- pass through revenues to be collected on behalf of third parties 63 22
- expected credit loss allowance (1,554) {§29)

Contract assets

- revenue to be collected on behalf of the Group 11.385 15,685
- paso through revenues to be collected on behalf of third parties 1,298 2,028
- expected credit loss allowance (354) (416)
Trade receivables and contract assets - net 39,426 40,238

Credit quality of customers is assessed by taking into account the current financial position of the customer, past experience
and forward looking factors, including economic outlook. The historical level of customer default is low and, as a result, the
credit quality of period end trade receivables is considered to be high Trade receivables are considered past due once they
have passed their contracted due date. The Group review trade receivables past due but not impaired on a regular basis and in
determining the recoverability of the trade receivables, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade
receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are debtors with a carrying amount of £15,823,000 (2020: £11,958,000) which
are past due at the reporting date, for which the Group has not provided as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the Group believes that the amounts are still recoverable. Of the total balance, £8,698,000 (2020: £4,833 000) 15 past
due by fewer than 30 days. The average age of trade receivables and contract assets, excluding pass through revenues, is 88
days (2020: 81 days).

The decrease in contract assets is consistent with the decrease in revenue.
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16.

Movements in the allowance for expected credit losses are as follows:

Asat1 Apnil 2020/2019

On acquisition

Charged to the income statement
Credited to the income statement
Debts written off

Toreign exchange

As at 31 March 2021/2020

£000 £000
1,243 893
- 105
1,714 2,844
(308) (238)
(686) (2,375)
7) 16
1,908 1,245

The movement in the expected creditloss allowance has been included in eperating costs in the consolidated income statement.

The Group at the year-end held trade receivables and contract assets as follows:

UK Pounds Sterling
US Dollar

Indian Rupee
Canadian Dollar
South African Rand
LEuro

Other

Bangladeshi Taka
Myanmar Kyat
Nepalese Rupee

Other receivables

Prepayments

Refundable deposits

Due from related parties {note 16}
Employee advances

Other receivables

Asat As at
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
£000 £000
17,865 21,017
10,952 8,289
5779 4,135
2,923 1,593
771 1,895
578 1,883
273 164
141 48
97 1,013

47 201
34,426 40,238
As at As at
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
£000 £000
2,722 3,325
631 207

- 1,032

- 526

719 392
4,072 5,482

Employee advances primarily relate to short term loans for payment by the Group of personal tax arising where the employee
has elected to retain the shares on the exercise of share options. No advances relate to Directors of the Group in the current or

prior years.

Related party transactions

The Group has entered into various transactions with related parties in the nermal course of its business. Prices and terms of
payment are approved by the Board. Significant related party transactions and balances are as foRows:

Balances included in the consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Due from related parties
Due to related parties

As at
31 March 2021
£000

43,238

As at
31 March 2020
£000

1,032

[AS24 altows disclosure exemption of transactions between wholly owned subsidiaries that are eliminated on consolidation.
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Balances included in the consolidated income statement

As at Asat

Note 31 March 2021 31 March 2020

£000 £000

Amounts paid to key management personnel ) 785 339

a)  On11 October 2012 Mr T Newmarch, a current Director of IMImobile Europe Limited, was loancd an interest free amount
totalling £32,671 by IMImobile Europe Limited, Subsequent loan repayments and cxchange rate movements reduced the
balance to £31,157 and this amount was oulstanding at 31 March 2020. This amount was fully repaid in February 2021.
13uring the prior year the Group loaned $1,100,000 (£889,000) to the management of IMImobile North America Ine, secured
against the shares issued in November 2018 as consideration when the Group exercised jts call option to acquire the
remaining 20% share of IMmobile North America Inc. The loan has accrued interest of $17,000 (£13,000) in the year and
$156,000 (£125,000) in total. The joan and accrued interest were fully repaid in July 2020.

by  Following Cisco’s acquisition of the Group, they settled the UK bank loan in March 2021 on its behalf resulting in a
corresponding amount due to a related party. The amount due to Cisco is interest bearing at 1.1334% per annum and
repayable on demand.

&) 'The compensation of the Directors of the Group, considered to be key management personnel, was as follows:

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
£000 £000
Short-term employee benefits 761 815
Post-cmployment benefits 24 24
785 839

Details of Directors’ remuneration are disclosed within note 6.

Trade and other payables

As at As at
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
£000 £000

Trade payables

- cost of sales to be paid on behalf of the Group 16,610 21,119

- pass through revenucs to be paid to third parties 1,387 3141
Accrued expenses

- cost of sales to be paid on behalf of the Group 17,935 16,952

- pass through revenues to be paid to third parties 1,890 1,273

Due to related parties (note 16) 43,238 -

Put option on acquisitions {note 24) 1,755 866

VAT pavable 2,180 2,969

RDEC deferred income 1,221 1,460

Other payables 6,762 1,991

92,978 49,773

Trade payables balances are non-interest bearing and are settled within 30-60 days.
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19.

Lease liabilitieg

At 1 April 2019

‘Transition on adoption of IFRS 16
Re-measurement of existing lease Habilities
Additions

Principal repay ments

Interest

At 31 March 2020

Additions
Principal repayments
Interest

At31 March 2021

Ak 31 March 2000
Current
Nen-current

At 31 March 2021
Current
Non-current

Provision for contingent consideration

Deferred consideration arising on acquisition of 3C
Contingent consideration arising on acquisition of Rostrvm

Other contingent consideration

Provision for contingent consideration due in less than one year

Deferred consideration arising on acquisition of 3C

Other contingent consideration

Provision for contingent consideration due in more than cne year

Buildings IT equipment Total
£000 £000 £000
1,419 - 1,419

- 183 183
2,560 - 2,560
(1,336) (o3 (1,429)
94 6 100
2,757 96 2,833
167 167
(1,749} (70) (1,819)
b6 8 94
1,241 34 1,275
1,536 66 1,602
1,201 30 1,231
2,737 96 2,833
1,014 34 1,048
227 - 227
1,241 34 1,275
As at As at

31 March 2021 31 March 2020

£000 £000

6,765 2,593

- 851
28 56

6,793 3,500
- 4,914
- 10
- 4924

The provision for the contingent consideration arising on acquisition of Rostrvm Solutions Limited was also recorded in the
Company only balance sheet as the acquisition was made by IMImobile Limited, and was settled in £750,000 of cash during the
year, £19,000 of which had been discounted to net present value and was released to finance income. £120,000 was contingent
on revenue and gross margin targets and was not achieved so was released to finance income {note 7).
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Bank borrowings

UK bank loans due in less than one year
Bank borrowing costs

South African bank loans due in less than one ycar

Bank loans due in less than one year

UK bank loans duc in more than one year
Bank borrowing costs

South African bank loans due in more than one year

Bank loans due in more than one year

31 March 2021

As at

£000

As at

31 March 2020

£000

1,000
(130)

3,870
136

4,006

43,192
(451)

42,741

42,741

The Company agreed new UK bank loan facilities in August 2019 and amended in December 2019, The facility included a
£30,000,000 5-year term loan with annual interest of between 1.65% and 2.35% plus LIBOR based on the level of adjusted
leverage, and a £20,000,000 revolving loan facility repayable over 5 years and bearing inlerest at an annual rate of between
1.65% and 2.35% plus LIBOR based on the level of adjusted leverage. The UK bank loan was repaid in full in March 2021 and
the associated borrowing costs were fully amortised to finance cost (note 7).

A South African bank loan of ZAR 15,000,000 was taken by Archer Digital Limited in October 2016, repayable over four years.
The loan was secured by Fixed assets and bears interest at South Africa’s prime rate plus 1%. The South African bank loan was

repaid in full in September 2020,

‘The movernents in bank borrowings over the year were as follows:

South
OId UK New UK Africa Borrowing
bank loan bank loan  bank loan Subtotal costs Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
At1 April 2019 20,407 - 441 20,848 (117) 20,731
T.oan drawdowns 1,239 50,037 - 51,276 - 51,276
Principal repayments (21,642) (2,675) (220) (24,537} - {24,537)
Capitalised bank borrowing costs - - - - (649} (649)
Borrowing costs written off on - - - - 105 105
refinancing
Amortisation of borrowing costs - - - - 80 80
Exchange differences (4) {170} (85} (259) - (259)
At 31 March 2020 - 47,192 136 47,328 (581) 46,747
Principal repayments - (46,207} (137} (46,344) - (46,344)
Capitalised bank barrowing costs - - - - (1) (10)
Amortisation of borrowing costs - - - - 121 121
Borrowing costs written off on - - - - 470 470
repayment of loan
Exchange differences - {983) 1 (981} - (984)

At 31 March 2021 -
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21. Defined benefit gratuity plan

Net benefit expenses

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2021 31 March 2020

£000 £000

Current service cost 121 105

Interest cost on obligation 70 63

Net actuarial {profit) /losses recognised (79) 145

Total 112 313
The movements in the defined benefit gratuity obligation over the year were as follows:

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2021 31 March 2020

£000 £000

Opening obligation 1,299 1,032

Interest cost 70 63

Current service cost 121 105

Benetits paid (65) (&)

Net actuarial profit/loss recognised in the year (79) 145

Exchange differences (103) 28

Closing obligation 1,243 1,299

The significant actuarial assumptions were as follows:
Year ended Year ended

31 March 2021 31 March 2020

Discount rate 6.85% 6.75%

1+ Year - 10% 1% Year - 10%
Salary growth rate ‘Thereafter — 6% Thereafter - 6%
Mortality tables IALM (2012-14) 1ALM (2012-14)

Sensitivity analysis on the actuarial assumptions is as follows:

Change to Change to

Sensitivity  present value  present value
applied  of obligation  of obligation

31 March 2021 31 March 2020

Discount rate +1% -£145,000 -£1035,000
Salary growth rate +1% +£135,000 +£97,000
Attrition rate +50% +£11,000 +£17,000
Mortality tables +10% +£1,000 +£1,000

The estimates of future salary increases considered in the actuarial valuation take into account inflation, seniority, promotion
and other relevant factors such as supply and demand in the employment market.



Deferred tax

Gross Offset As reported
£000 £000 £000
31 March 2021
Deferred tax assets 3144 (2,963) 179
Deferred Lax liabilities (10,145) 2,965 {7,180)
Total (7,001) - (7,001)
31 March 2020
Deferred tax assets 4,118 (3,394) 724
Deferred tax liabilitics (10,515) 3,394 (7,121}
Total (6,397) - (6,397)
‘The gross movement on the deferred tax acconnt is as follows:
£000 £000
A1 April 202072019 {6,397) (3,322)
Income statement {charge) / credit (392) 890
On acquisition - (3,990)
Share-based payment recognised in equity (212) 45
Exchange differences - (20)
At 31 March 2021/2020 (7,001} (6,397)

The following are the deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the respective
period:

Other

Property, short-term

Plant and Share-based Intangible temporary
Deferred tax assets: Equipment payments assets Losses differences Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
At 1 April 2020 59 896 1,064 1,183 916 4,118
(Charge) / credit to the income statement 141 (676) 97) (550) 420 (762)
Share-based paymenis recognised in equity - (212) - - - (212)
At 31 March 2021 200 8 967 633 1,336 314

Other

Property, Share- short-term

Plant and based Intangible temporary
Deferred tax labilities: Eguipment payments assets Losses differences Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £0600 £000
At1 April 2020 (2,315) - {8,200) - - (10,515)
(Charge) / credit te the income statement (262) - 632 B - 370
At 31 March 2021 (2,577) - (7,568) - - (10,145)

Other short-term temporary differences comprise a number of items, none of which is individually significant to the Group's
Statement of Financial Position. At31 March 2021 the balance related to temporary differences in relapon 1o long-term employee
benefits including retirement benefits, and the provision of bad debts in India to the extent they are offset by deferred tax on
property, plant and equipment in I[ndia.

At the balance sheet date, the Group has losses of £42,198,000 on which there are unrecognised deferred tax assets of £8,133,000
(2020: £2,781,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these temporary differences as the Group considers
that there will not be enough taxable profits in the entities concerned such that any additional asset could be considered
recoverable. Of these unrecognised deferred tax assets, £7,435,000 (2020: £1,998,000) may be carried forward indefinitely and
£700,000 {2020 £783,000), relating to the estimation of forecast future taxable income in TMT Mobile Private Limited, expires
after eight years.

No deferred tax liability is recognised on gross temporary differences of £7,892,000 (2020: £20,881,000) relating to the unremitted
carnings of overseas subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of these temporary differences and it
is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. The temporary differences at 31 March 2021 represent only the
unremitted earnings of those overseas subsidiaries where remittance to the UK of those earnings may stili result in a tax liability,
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principally as a result of a dividend withholding taxes levied by the overseas tax jurisdictions in which these subsidiaries
operate,

Share capital, share premium and reserves

Share Share
Allotted, called up and fully paid Capital Premium Total
£000 £000 £0060
At 1 April 2020 7,479 27,555 35,034
Share placing 742 20,925 21,667
Share options exercised 1,057 20,346 21,403
At 31 March 2021 9,278 68,826 78,104
Number of
Ordinary
shares
At 1 April 2020 74,793,729
Share placing 7,415,575
Share options exercised (note 24} 10,571,693

At 31 March 2021 92,780,997

During the year 9,559,190 share opticns were exercised for consideration of £15,411,000. The exercise of 1,012,503 flawering
share options has been accounted for as a reduction of £3,992,000 in the sharc-based payment reserve. The exercise of share
options where the employer payroll taxes were not passed to the employee has been accounted for as a reduction of £333,000
in the share-based payment reserve.

Ordinary shares

The Group's capital consists of a single class of equity share.

The amount classified as equity share capital represents the nominal value of allotted, called up and fully paid ordinary shares
ata par value of £0.10. Each holder of ordinary shares is entitled to one vote per share.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve is used to record cumulative translation differences on the assets and liabilities of foreign operations.
The cumulative translation differences are recycled to the income statement on disposal of the foreign operation.

Share-based payment reserve

The sharc-based payment reserve relates to the charge for the share-based payment in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standard 2.

Capital restructuring reserve

The capital restiucturing reserve was created as part of the capital restructuring of the Group following admission to AIM. The
share capital and share premium were restated based on the 3:1 conversion of ordinary shares, with a corresponding entry in
the restructuring reserve. The restructuring reserve also reflects the conversion of preference shares to ordinary shares and the
creation of a non-controlling interest in the Group that has subsequently been eliminated.

Retained earnings

Retained earnings represents the cumulative earnings of the Group attributable to eguity shareholders.
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Share-based payment charge

The Group recognised the following expense related to share-based payments:

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2021 31 March 2020

£000 £000

Employee share schemes granted as part of the Group’s listing in June 2014 (7) 4
Employee share schemes granted to retain key staff as part of an acquisition 338 139
On-going employee incentive share schemes 3,590 1,121
Total share-based payment charge on options granted to Directors and employees 3,921 1,284
Infracast contingent consideration - 1,035
Credit to equity for share-based payments 3,921 2,319
Archer pul option 889 (147)
Movement in put options on acquisitions 889 (147)
Share-based payment charge 4,810 2,172

Employec shares schemes

The Group operated the following schemes during the year. Certain options granted under the schemes included accelerated
vesting on a change in control of the group, in which case the share-based payment charge that would otherwise have been
recognised in future periods has been recognised in the current year.

Flowering Share Plan

The plan was established on 16 May 2014. The options granted vest over a period of 0-4 years and are dependent upon
continued employment, and mecting an abjective Company hurdle and performance targets for the Group's adjusted EPS. The
options may be forfeited if the employee leaves the Group and the rights of the participants lapse if the award has not been
exercised after a period of 10 years from the grant date.

Details of the share awards outstanding during the year are as follows:

As at 31 March 2021 As at 31 March 2020

Weighted average Number of share Weighted average Number of share

exercise price (£) options  exercise price (£) options

At 1 April 0.03 1,012,503 0.03 1,232,499
Exercised 0.03 {1,012,503) 003 (219.996)
At 31 March - - 0.03 1,012,503
Vested - - 0.03 1,012,503
Unvested - - - -
At 31 March - - 0.03 1,012,503

The share-based payment charge on this plan during the year is £nil (2020 £nil).
The options outstanding at 31 March 2021 have a weighted average remaining contractual life of nil years (2020: 4.1 years).

The fair value at grant date has been determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model. The significant inputs into the model
were a risk-free interest rate of .31% to 1.33%, exercise price shown above, an expected option life of five years, volatility of
22% to 70% depending on the vesting date of the options and a dividend yield of nil.

2014 Unapproved Option Plan

The plan was established on 26 June 2014. The options granted vest over a period of 04 vears and are dependent upon
continued cmployment and meeting performance targets for the Group’s adjusted EPS, The options may be forfeited if the
employee leaves the Group and the rights of the participants lapse if the award has not been exercised after a period of 10 years
from the grant date.

46



Details of the share awards outstanding during the year are as follows:

As at 31 March 2021 As at 31 March 2020

Weighted average Number of share Weighted average Number of share

exercise price (£) options  exercise price {£) options

At1 April 151 8,374,226 1.26 8,172,106
Granted 3.00 1,500,000 272 1,159,705
Exercised 1.63 (8,533,310) 0.54 (849,857)
Forfeited 1.69 (349,044) 283 (107,728)
Replaced with cash award 2.68 {991,872} - -
At 31 March - - 1.51 8,374,226
Vested - - 0.81 4,521,413
Unvested - - 233 3,852,813
At 31 March - - 1.51 8,374,226

‘Ihe share-based payment charge on this plan during the year is £3,507,000 (2020: £1,199,000).

The aggregate fair value of options granted in the year is £1,813,000 (2020: £1,015,000). The options putstanding at 31 March
2021 have a weighted average remaining contractual life of nil years (2020: 6.8 years).

‘Yhe fair value at grant date has been determined using the Black-Scheles valuation model. The significant inputs into the model
were a risk-free interest rate of (0.06}% to 1.72%, exercise price shown above, an expected option life of five years, volatility of
7% to 70% depending on the vesting date of the options and a dividend yield of nil.

csop

The plan was established on 26 June 2014. The options granted vest over a period of 0-4 years and are dependent upon
continued employment. The options may be forfeited if the employee leaves the Group and the rights of the participants lapse
if the award has not been exercised after a period of 10 years from the grant date.

Details of the share awards outstanding during the year are as follows:

As at 31 March 2021 As af 31 March 2020

Weighted average Number of share Weighted average Number of share

exercise price (£) options  exercise price (£) options

At1 April 205 1,014 071 1.73 1,105,094
Granted - - 3.06 239,205
Exercised 1.80 (782,538) 1.51 (248,637)
Torfeited 3.05 (17,556) 232 (81.681)
Replaced with cash award 2.89 (213,977) - -
At 31 March - - 2.05 1,014,071
Vested - - 1.61 603,615
Unvested - - 2.69 410,456
At 31 March - - 2.05 1,014,071

The share-based payment charge on this plan during the year is £162,000 (2020: £85,000).

The aggregate fair value of options granted in the year is £nil (2020: £157,000). The options cutstanding at 31 March 2021 have
a weighted average remaining contractual life of nil years (2020: 6.8 years).

The fair value at grant date has been determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model. The significant inputs into the model
were a risk-free interest rate of 0.42% to 1.72%, exercise price shown above, an expected option life of five years, volatility of
7% to 70% depending on the vesting date of the options and a dividend yicld of nil.

Rollover scheme

The plan was established on 27 June 2014. The options granted vest over a period of 04 years and are dependent upon
continued employment. The options may be forfeited if the employee leaves the Group and the rights of the participants lapse
if the award has not been exereised after a period of 10 years from the grant date.
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Details of the share awards outstanding during the year are as follows:

As at 31 March 2021 As at 31 March 2020

Weighted average Number of share Weighted average Number of share

exercise price (£} options  exercise price (£) options

At1 April .30 247,500 0.30 320,500
Txercised 030 (241,500) 0.30 (73.000)
At 31 March 0.29 6,000 0.30 247,500
Vested 0.29 6,000 0.30 247,500
Unvested - _ _ ~
At 31 March 0.29 6,000 0.30 247,500

‘The share-based payment charge on this plan during the year is £nil (2020: £nil).
The optiens outstanding at 31 March 2021 have a weighted average remaining contractual life of 0.4 years (2020: 4.2 years).

The fair value at grant date has been determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model. The significant inputs into the model
were @ Tisk-free interest rate of 0.44% to 1.34%, exercise price shown above, an expected option life of five years, volatility of
9% to 41% depending on the vesting date of the options and a dividend yield of nil.

Sape As You Earn

The plan was established on 6 August 2020. The options granted vest over a period of 3 years and are dependent upon
continued employment. The options will be forfeited if the employee leaves the Group.

Details of the share awards outstanding during the year are as follows:

As at 31 March 2021 As at 31 March 2020

Weighted average Number of share Weighted average Number of share

exercise price (£) options  exercise price (£) options

Atl April - - - -
Granted 2.96 659,958 - -
Fxercised 2.96 (L.842) - -
Yorfeited 2496 (5[]0,763) - -
At 31 March 2.96 157,353 - -
Vested - . R R
Unvested 296 157,353 - -
At 31 March 296 157,353 - -

The share-based payment charge on this plan during the year is £252,000 {2020: £nil).

The aggregate fair value of options granted in the year is £934,000 (2020: £nil). The options outstanding at 31 March 2021 have
a weighted average remaining contractual life of 0.3 years (2020: nil years).

The fair value at grant date has been determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model. The significant inputs into the model
were a risk-free interest rate of (0.04) %, exercise price shown above, an expected option life of three years, volatility of 30% and
a dividend yield of nil.

43



25.

Total of Employee Share Schemes

Weighted average

exercise price (£)

At1 April 140
Granted 299
Ixercised 146
Forfeited 245
Replaced with cash award 271
At 31 March 2.86
Vested 0.29
Linvested 296
At 31 March 2.86

As at 31 March 2021

Number of share
options

10,648,300
2,159,958
(10,571,693)
(867,363)
(1,203,849)

163,353

6,000
157,353

163,353

Weighted average
exercise price (£)

1.14
2.78
0.62
261

1.40

0.74
237

1.40

As at 31 March 2020

Number of share
options

10,830,199
1,399,000
(1,391,490
(189,409)

10,648,300

6,385,031
4,263,269

10,648,300

The aggregate fair value of eptions granted in the year is £2,747,000 {2020: £1,172,000). The options outstanding at 31 March
2021 have a weighted average remaining contractual life of (1.3 years (2020: 6.5 years).

IMimobile South Africa (formerly Archer) put/call option

Archer management team’s sharcholding in Archer Digital Limited includes a put option which enables them to sell their
holding fo the Group after 5 years or in the evenf of an unconditional offer for the Companry, and a call option which gives the
Group the right to require management to sell some or all of its holding at fair market value. The Group revalues this option
each year and has accounted for it as a cash settled share-based payment vesting over the 5-year period, with a charge of
£889,000 recorded in the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: credit of £147,000). The option was exercised on the Group’s change
of control and the option value of £1,755,000 included in trade and other payables at year end was settled in April 2021.

Notes to the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Cash generated from operations

Cash flows from operating activities:

(Loss) / profit before taxation

Adjustments:

Net finance costs

Share-based payments

Diepreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets

Operating cash flow before movements in working capital:

{Decrease)/increase in receivables
Decrease/ (increase) in payables
Increase in provision for defined benefit gratuity plan

Cash generated from operations

Net cash / (debt)

Year ended Year ended

Notes 31 March 2021 31 March 2020
£000 £000

(11,281) 3,130

7 1486 1,480
24 4,810 2,172
12 3,942 3,380
11 9,874 7,597
8,831 17,759

(349) 4,144

330 {1,096)

136 68

8,948 20,875

‘T'his section sets out an analysis of net cash / {debt) and the movements in net cash / (debt) for each of the periods presented.

Cash and cash equivalents
Bank borrowings - current and non-current
[ease Liability

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2021 31 March 2020
£000 £000

54,494 25,089

- (46,747)

(L.275) (2,833)

53,219 (24,491)
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Cash and cash Total bank Lease

equivalents borrowings lLiabilities Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2020 23,089 (46,747) (2,833) (24,491)
Cash flows 29,405 46,747 1,752 77.904
New Jease agreements - - (151) (151)
Re-measurement of existing lease liabilities - - 46 46
Interest charge on lease liabilities - - (89) (89)
At 31 March 2021 54,494 - (1,275) 53,215

Dividends per share
A dividend was paid to IMImobile Limited by one of its subsidiaries in March 2021 and resulted in a dividend expense of
£175,000 to non-controlling interests (2020: £nil).

Financial risk management

‘I'he Group's financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents and items such as trade payables and trade receivables
which arise directly from its operations. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to provide finance for the Group's
operations.

The Group's operations expose it to a variety of financial risks including credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, equity price
risk and foreign currency exchange rate risk. It is the objective of the Group to minimise these risks where possible by
maintaining and operating a robust control environment. Given the size of the Group, the Directors have nat delegated the
responsibility of monitoring financial risk management to 2 sub-committee of the Board. The policies set by the Board of
Directors are implemented by the Group’s finance department.

The Group currently does not use derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to these risks.
Financigl instruments
The following table combines information about:

«  classes of financial instruments based on their nature and characteristics;

. the carrying amounts of financial instruments;

s fair values of financial instruments (except financial instruments when carrying amount approximates their fair
value); and

. fair value hierarchy levels of financial assets and financial liabilities for which fair value was disclosed.
Fair value hierarchy levels 1 to 3 are based un the degree to which the fair value is observable:

*  Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities;

»  Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.c. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

. Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valnation techniques that include inputs for the asset or
liability that are not based on observable market data (uncbservable inputs).
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Financial assets at

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities

amortised cost at FVTPL at amortised cost Fair value
as at 31 March: as at 31 March: as at 31 March: hierarchy
Note 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

£000 £000 L0060 £000 £000 £000
Cash and cash equivalents 13 54,491 25,089 - - - - Tevel 1
Trade receivables and contract assets 14 39,426 40,238 - - - - Level t
Tax receivable 1,495 2,717 - - - - Level 1
Withholding tax debtor 271 1,172 - - - - Tevel 1
Trade and other payables 17 - - - - (92,978)  (49,773) Tevel 1
Lease liabilities
- current 18 - - - - {1,048} (1,602) Level 2
- non-current 18 - - - - (227} (1.231) Level 2
Provision for contingent consideration
- current 19 - - (6,793) (3,500) - - Level 3
- non-current 19 - - - (4,924} - - Level 3
Bank borr()wings
- current 20 - - - - - (4,006) Level 1
- non-current 20 - - - - - {42,741) Level 1
Tax payable - - - - (507) - Tevel 1

The provision for contingent consideration primarily relates to the acquisitions of 3C and fair value is based on expected
achievement against milestone targets, discounted to present value.
Liguidity risk

As regards liquidity, the Group’s policy throughout the period has been to ensure continuity of funding. The Group manages
liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows. The Group has not
entered into any derivative transactions in the current or prior year,

All trade payables (note 17) are due to be paid within twelve months of the balance sheet date. The average trade creditor days
for the Group, expressed as a number of days, was 122 (2020: 117).

Currency risk

The Group’s policy in relation to transactional currency risk is to conduct the majority of its sales in the local or pegged currency
of each entity (see note 2). Within each statutory entity, there is an amount of trading with overseas customers which are settled
in foreign currencies. The Group monitors its exposure to currency by regularly reviewing its cash balances and matching these
with future and forecast requirements.

The Group at the year-cnd held cash at bank amounts as follows:

As at As at

31 March 2021 31 March 2020

£000 £000

Indian Rupee 29,120 1,049
UK Pounds Sterling 14,365 17,694
US Dollar 4,568 2,936
Canadian Dollar 1,809 474
South African Rand 1,736 797
Furo 1,138 1,046
Tunisian Dinar 562 480
United Arab Emirates Dirham 281 229
Myanmar Kyat 245 20
Nepalese Rupee 240 81
Bangladeshi Taka 209 236
Australian Dollar 14 17
Sri Lankan Ruppc 7 3
Nigerian Naira - 27
54,494 25,089

Fereign currency exchange rate risk

The Group has certain investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk. As
well as naturally mitigating this risk by offsetting its cost base in the same currencies where possible, currency exposure arising,
from the net assets of the Group's foreign operations is managed through cash balances denominated in the relevant foreign
currencies.

The Group is mainly exposed to the Canadian Dollar, South African Rand, US Dollar, Indian Rupee and Furo currencics.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase or decreasc in Sterling against the relevant foreign
currencies. 10% is the sensitivity rate which represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign
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29,

exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in
profit where Sterling sirengthens 10% against the relevant currency. For a 10% weakening of Sterling against the relevant
currency, there would be an cqual and opposite impact on the profit and other equity, and the balances below would be
negative or positive.

As at As at
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
£000 £000

Currency impact of:
South African Rand 38 (36)
US Dollar {37) 93)
Indian Rupee (136) 307
Euro (232) (68)
Canadian Dollar (134) (117}

Interest rate risks
1listorically the Group has financed its operations through a mix of equity and debt to help minimise its exposure. During the
year the Group fully repaid its bank borrowings (note 20) following the acquisition of the Group by Cisco.

Prior to this the Group minimised its risk to interest fluctuations by closely menitoring interest rates and drawing funds from
jurisdictions with low and stable interest rates.

Crecit risk

‘There has been no material change in the credit risk compared to the prior year. The carrying amount of financial assets
represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date can be found within note
14. The table below summaries the Group’s credit exposure to six of its key custemers at the balance sheet date, excluding pass
through revenues.

Asat As at

31 March 2021 31 March 2020

£000 £000

Customer A 454 351
Customer B 3,530 4,551
Customer C - -
Customer [3 1,249 712
Customer E 2,430 1,958
Customer F 1,453 2,579

There are no other customers that represent more than 5% of the total balance of trade receivables in either period.
Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structurc to reduce the
cost of capital. For the purpose of capital risk management, the total capital resources consist of the following components:

As at As at

31 March 2021 31 March 2020

£000 £000

Cash and cash equivalents 54,494 25,089
Bank borrowings - (46,747)
Lease liability recognised on transition to IFRS 16 (1.275) {2,823)
Net cash / (debt) 53,219 (24,491}
Fquity 97,071 78,731

Post balance sheet events
Disposal of intellectual property and subsidiaries

Over the period April to August 2021, the Group sold its internally generated intellectual property and four US subsidiaries to
other subsidiaries of the Cisco group for a total consideration of £445.7 million, of which £384.2 million has been passed back
to parent undertakings as dividends.



VAS divestiture

In September 2021, the divestment of the VAS operating business was completed to the management team of that division.
Consideration is £6m in cash, of which £3m was paid in December 2021 and £3m is due after three years
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IMIMOBILE LIMITED COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Company Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2021

As at As at
Note 31 March 2021 31 March 2020
£000 £000
Non-current assets
Investments 32 159,711 166,176
‘Total non-current assets 159,711 166,176
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8,882 5,588
Trade and other receivables 33 32,592 33,448
Total current assets 41,474 39,036
Current Habilities
Trade and other payables (7,237) (150)
Provision for contingent consideration 19 - (851)
Bank borrowings 20 - (3.870)
Total current labilities (7,257) (4,871)
Net current assets 34,217 34,165
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 34 (88,150) (64,287)
Bank borrowings 20 - (42,741)
Total non-current liabilities (88,150% (107,028)
Net assets 105,778 93,313
Equity attributable to the owners of the parent
Share capital 23 9,278 7479
Share premium 23 68,824 27,553
Shaye-based payment reserve 23 29,287 25,365
(Accumulated losses)/ retained earnings 31 (1,613) 32,914
Total equity 105,778 93,313

‘The Company reported a loss for the financial year ended 31 March 2021 of £34,527,000 (2020: loss of £3,568,000) inctuding dividend
income of £17,538,000 (2020: £nil ) received from its subsidiaries and impairment in investments of £34,026,000 (2020: £2,769,060).

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Company financial statements.

The financial statements of IMImobile Limited {Company number: 08802718) were approved by the Board and authorised for issue on
23 December 2021

Signed on behalf of the Board

Mike jefferies
Director
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 March 2021

Balance at1 April 2019

Loss for the year

Proceeds from share issue (note 23)

Issue of shares as part of acquisition
Credit to equity for share-based payments

Balance at 31 Maich 2020

Loss for the year
Proceeds from share issue (note 23)
Credit to equity for share-based payments

Balance at 31 March 2021

Retained

Share-based carnings /
Share Share payment  (accumulated Total
capital premium reserve losses) equity
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
6,671 6,666 23,036 38,482 74,855
- - - (5,568) (5.568)
7492 20,391 - - 21,183
16 498 - - 314
- . 2,329 . 2329
7.47% 27,555 25,365 32,914 93,313
- - - (34,527) (34,527)
1,799 41,271 - - 43,070
- - 3,922 - 3,922
9,278 68,826 29,287 (1,613) 105,778

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Company financial statements.



Notes to the Company financial statements
For the vear ended 31 March 2021

30.

Significant accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty
Basis of accounting

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company has elected not to present its own profit and loss account
for the year. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 "‘Reduced
Disclosure Framework’ (I'RS 101} and in accordance with applicable accounting standards. As permitted by FIRS 101, the
company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available under that standard in relation to presentation of a cash
flow statement, standards not yet effective and related party transactions as disclosed in the group accounts.

‘The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. Further details of the Directors’
considerations in relation to going concern are included in the Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report and note 1.

The principal accounting policies applied in preparation of the Company Statement of Financial Position are set out below.
IMImobile Limited is the parent company for the IMImobile Group and does not generate its own revenues.
Investments

Investments in subsidiaries are held at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Share-based payment charges are included
as a capital contribution within the relevant investment in subsidiaries.

Impairment reviews of investments are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
a potential impairment. The carrying value of cach investment is compared o the recoverable amount, which is the higher of
value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not
subsequently reversed.

Foreign currencies

The Company financial statements are presented in UK Pounds Sterling (“the presentational currency” and “the functional
currency”).

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the presentational currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short-term depaosits in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an original
maturity of three months or less, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

Trade and other receivables

‘The majority of trade and other receivables are amounts due from subsidiaries, the Company has applicd the IFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses using a lifetime expected credit loss provision for Group receivables, Receivable
balances are assessed based on each entity’s ability to repay amounts owed.

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Frade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year orless (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabitities. ‘Frade payables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,

Company share capital

Ordinary shares are classificd as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Going concern

The Company’s business activities, together with factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are
set out in the Strategic Report, Directors” Repott and note 1.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Impairment reviews

Management undertake periodic tests for impairment of investments if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. Impairment testing is an area involving management judgement, requiring
assessment as to whether the carrying value of investments can be supported by the net present value of future cash flows. In
calculating the net present value of the future cash flows, certain assumptions are required to be made in respect of highly
uncertain matters.
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Management consider the cash flow growth rate, expressed as the compound annual growth rates in the initial five years of
the business plans and forecasts, to be the key source of estimation uncertainty. The growth rates used across the Company's
material investments would need to decrease as follows before impairment would be required:

Cash flow growth rate:

At which

Used in impairment

impairment would be

review required

IMImobile Furope Limited 1% {29%)
Ixtlocal Limited 16% {44%)
IMImobile Intelligent Networks Limited 21% {29%)
IMImobile African 1loldings Limited 22% (22%)
IMImobile North America Inc 11% (16%)
FHealthrare Communications TTK T imited 579, (2149
IMImobile Software ] imited 1% (16%)

IMI Mobile Private [ .imited is held at fair value less cost of disposal, so the cash flow growth rate is not a key source of estimation
uncertainty in its impairment review,

(Accumulated losses)/retained earnings

The auditors’ remuneration for andit and other services is disclosed within note 4 to the conselidated financial statements. The
only employees of the Company are the Non-executive Directors whose emoluments are included in note 16.

Investments

‘The Company has investments in the following subsidiaries:

Foreign
Share-based exchange
Opening Additions payments Impairment movement Closing
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
31 March 2021

IMI Mobile Private Limited 33,706 - 687 {28,393) - 6,000
IMImoebile Europe Limited 24,082 - 2,675 - - 26,757
Txtocal Limited 13,475 - 79 - - 13,554
IMImobile Intelligent Networks Limited 16,137 - a5 - - 16,192
IMImobile South Africa Pty Limited 110 - 40 - - 150
IMImobile African Holdings T.imited 3,112 - - - 255 3,367
IMImolile South Africa 1 Limited 225 - - - - 225
IMImobile South Africa 2 Limited 56 - - - - 56
IMEmobile Limited FZE 2 - - . - 2
IMImobile North America Ing 42,527 - - - {3,940y 38,587
Healthcare Communications UK Limited 11,872 - 36 - - 11,908
IMImobile Software Limited 16,340 - - - {324) 16,016
Rostrvm Solutions Limited 4,397 - 10 - - 4,407
IMImobile Canada Inc 4] - 83 - - 839
3Cinteractive Corp 129 - 257 - - 386
IMI Mobile VAS Limited FZE - 27,633 - (5,633) - 22,000
IMImaobile Cloud Communications (India) - 15 - - - 13

Private Limited
166,176 27,648 3,922 {34,026) {4,009) 139,711
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Foreign

Share-based exchange

Opening Additions payinents Impairment movement Closing
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

31 March 2020
IMI Mobile Private Limited 36,260 - 215 (2,769) ~ 33,706
IMImobite Furope Limited 23,258 - 824 - - 24,082
TxHocal Limited 13,412 - 63 - ~ 13,475
IMImobile Intelligent Networks Limited 15,087 - 1,050 - - 16,137
IMImobile South Africa Pty Limited 98 - 12 - - 110
IMImobile African Holdings Limited 3,667 - - - (355) 3,112
IMImobile South Africa 1 Limited 225 - - - - 225
[MImobile South Africa 2 Limited 56 - - - - 56
[MImobile Limited FZE 2 - - - - 2
IMImobile North America inc 6,864 35,804 - - (141) 42,527
Healthcare Communications UK Limited 11,842 - 30 - - 11,872
IMImobile Software Limited 15,963 - - - 377 16,340
Rostrvm Solutions [.imited - 4,397 - - - 4,397
IMImobile Canada Inc - - 4 - ~ 6
3Cinteractive Corp - - 129 - - 129
126,734 40,201 2329 (2,769) (319) 166,176

The investment in IMImobile African Holdings 1.imited includes a long-term loan of ZAR 69,000,000 which is considered to be
part of the net investment in the subsidiary.

The investment in IMImobile North America Inc includes a long-term loan of USI) 5,511,000 and shares issued with a market
value at the time of issue of £2,604,000 in relation the acquisition of the assets of Sumotext Corporation, and a long-term loan
of TUSD 43,850,000 to be used in the acquisition of 3C, all of which are considered to be part of the net investment in the
subsidiary. In July 2021 Cisco injected capital into IMImobile North America Inc which was used to scttle the USD 49,361,000
loan.

The Company made a long-term loan of CAD 27,747,000 to IMImobile Software Limited to be used in the acquisition of Impact
Mobile, which is considered to be part of the net investment in the subsidiary.

See note 2 for the class of shares held, the praportion of the nominal value of the class of shares held and the registered offices
of the subsidiaries.

Trade and other receivables

As at As at

31 March 2021 31 March 2020

£000 £000

Due from subsidiary - IMI Mobile Private [imited 15,623 2,600
Due from subsidiary - IMTmobile South Africa 1 Timited 351 35
Due from subsidiary - Tap2Bill Limited 2,129 25,017
13ue from subsidiary - IMImaobile Limited FZE 1,198 1,124
True from subsidiary - Lenco International Limited 149 137
Due from subsidiary - IMImobile Intelligent Networks Limited 701 2,651
Due from subsidiary - IMImaobile North America Inc 207 227
e from subsidiary - 3Cinteractive Corp 1,093 1,216
Due from subsidiary - IMImobile Furope Limited 10,359 -
Prepayments 270 171
Other receivables 212 -
32,592 33,448

Amounts due from subsidiaries are non-interest bearing and are repayable on demand.

The Company has applied the 1FRS ¢ simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, the above balances have been
assessed based on each entity’s ability to repay amounts owed and no expected credit loss has been recognised.
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Trade and other payables

As at As at

31 March 2021 31 March 2020

£000 £000

Due to related party (note 16) 43,238 -
Due to subsidiary - IMI Mobile VAS Limited FZIE 23,311 23,311
Due to subsidiary - IMImabile Furope Limzited - 20,196
D to subsidiary - Lenco Technology Group Limited 166 156
e to subsidiary - IMImobile African Heldings Limited 532 504
Due to subsidiary - IMlmabile Inc 151 155
Due to subsidiary - Txtlocal Limited 16,245 16,001
Due to subsidiary - I lealthcare Communications UK Limited 1,487 1,093
Due o subsidiary ~ Chilli Digital Europe Limited 67 67
Lue to subsichary - IMImobile Canada Inc 2,281 2,137
Due to subsidiary - Rostrvm Solutions Limited 672 667
88,150 64,287

Amounts due to subsidiaries are non-interest bearing and arc repayable on demand.

Immediate and ultimate parent undertaking

The Company’s immediate parent undertaking is Cisco Systems Holdings UK Limited, a company incorporated in the United
Kingdom. The ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party is Cisco Systems, Ine., a company incorporated in the United
States, which is the parent undertaking of the smallest and largest Group to consolidate these financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements of the group may be obtained by request from the Company Secretary, Cisco Systems,

Inc., 170 West Tasman Drive, San Jose, California 95134-1706, USA.
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